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A B O U T  A G I LY S Y S ,  I N C .
 

O U R  C O M PA N Y  A N D  C U S T O M E R S

Agilysys, Inc. is one of the foremost distributors and premier resellers of enterprise com-

puter technology solutions.  The Company has a proven track record of delivering complex 

servers, software, storage and services to resellers and corporate customers across a 

diverse set of industries. In addition, Agilysys provides customer-centric software applica-

tions and services focused on the retail and hospitality markets. 

Headquartered in Cleveland, Ohio, the Company has sales offices throughout the United 

States and Canada.    

 

A G I LY S Y S  …  A G I L E  S Y S T E M S  …  A G I L E  S O L U T I O N S  

In September 2003, shareholders of the former Pioneer-Standard Electronics, Inc. approved 

an amendment to change the name of their Company to Agilysys, Inc. A combination of 

the words “agile” and “systems,” the name Agilysys clearly represents the Company as a 

technology solutions organization that delivers the tools, knowledge and value that enable 

business partners and customers to perform at their best. 

F O R W A R D - L O O K I N G  S TAT E M E N T S

Portions of this annual report, particularly the statements made by management and 

those that are not historical facts, are forward-looking statements within the meaning of 

the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such 

forward-looking statements are based on current assumptions and expectations, and are 

subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond the control of Agilysys. 

Many factors could cause Agilysys actual results to differ materially from those antici-

pated by the forward-looking statements. For a listing of these risk factors, please see 

the Agilysys fiscal 2004 Annual Report on Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and 

Exchange Commission.
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[  F I N A N C I A L  H I G H L I G H T S  ]

FISCAL YEARS ENDED MARCH 31

(In thousands, except per share data)                   2004                      2003                    2002 

Continuing operations (a) (b)

   Net sales                                                              $ 1,403,216            $ 1,171,631           $1,294,322

   Operating income (loss) (c)                                            36,518                    (7,343                   15,328

   Income (loss) before income taxes (c) (d) (e)                    26,708                  (31,484                     4,944

   Provision (benefit) for income taxes                                9,684                  (11,739                     1,618

   Income (loss) from continuing operations (c) (d) (e)             11,524                  (26,060                   (2,911

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, 

   net of taxes (a)                                                                                   (2,861                    18,777                   (4,136

Cumulative effect of change in accounting

   principle, net of tax (f)                                                                                –                 (34,795                            –

Net income (loss) (a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f)                                          $      8,663            $   (42,078            $    (7,047

PER SHARE DATA – DILUTED                                                       

   Income (loss) from continuing

       operations (a) (b) (c) (d) (e)                                      $        0.41            $       (0.96            $      (0.11

   Net income (loss) (a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f)                                      0.31                      (1.54                     (0.26

   Cash dividends                                                                  0.12                        0.12                       0.12

   Book value (g)                                                       $       11.14            $      10.88            $      12.56

Weighted average shares outstanding

   Basic                                                                            27,744                    27,292                   27,040

   Diluted                                                                          27,956                    27,292                   27,040

(a)  The sale of the Agilysys, Inc. (“the Company”) Industrial Electronics Division (“IED”) and the related discontinuation 
of the operations of Aprisa, Inc. in February 2003 represent a disposal of a “component of an entity” as defined in 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of.”  Accordingly, 2002 has been restated to reflect the results of operations 
of IED and Aprisa, Inc. as discontinued operations.

(b) In 2004, the Company included the results of operations of both Kyrus Corporation and Inter-American Data, Inc. from 
their respective dates of acquisition.

(c) In 2004, the Company recorded a restructuring charge of $2.5 million ($1.6 million, after tax) for facility closures, 
change in Company name, and other costs associated with the 2003 reorganization.  In March 2003, the Company 
recorded a restructuring charge of $20.7 million ($13.0 million, after tax) for the impairment of facilities and other 
assets and for severance costs incurred in connection with downsizing the Company’s corporate structure.

(d) In March 2003, the Company recognized an impairment charge of $14.6 million ($9.2 million, after tax) on an available-
for-sale investment.

(e) In 2004 and 2003, the Company repurchased certain of its 9.5% Senior Notes, which resulted in a pre-tax charge 
of $8.5 million ($5.4 million, after tax) and $1.2 million ($0.7 million, after tax), respectively, associated with the 
premium paid and the write-off of related financing costs.

(f) On April 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” which requires that 
amortization of goodwill be replaced with period tests for goodwill impairment.  The adoption of SFAS No. 142 resulted 
in a charge of $34.8 million, net of tax.

(g) Book value per share is determined by dividing shareholders’ equity by shares outstanding less subscribed-for shares 
and restricted shares.

)

)

)

)

)

)
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)

)

)
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T O  O U R  S H A R E H O L D E R S :

Fiscal 2004 was a year fi lled with change and progress for Agilysys. Following the divestiture 

of the electronic components business in February 2003, we completed a number of impor-

tant steps in executing our strategic plan to reposition the Company by exclusively providing 

enterprise computer technology solutions. This transformation will enable Agilysys to deliver 

increased long-term value to our shareholders.  
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The second acquisition, which closed 

in February 2004, was Inter-American Data, 

Inc. (IAD). IAD instantly positioned Agilysys 

as a leading developer and marketer of 

software and services to hotel casinos and 

major resorts, and is now the core of our 

Hospitality Solutions Group. 

Of particular signifi cance, the IAD ac-

quisition gives Agilysys a strong position in 

the U.S. gaming sector.  Agilysys now pow-

ers some of the largest hotel casinos and 

major resorts around the world with a ro-

bust suite of enterprise computer solutions 

for property and materials management. 

Agilysys also develops and markets innova-

tive, proprietary electronic document imag-

ing software.

I invite you to read more about these 

and the other Agilysys solutions offerings in 

the subsequent sections of this report. 

Strong Financial Performance in Fiscal 2004

Along with the aforementioned achieve-

ments, Agilysys delivered strong fi nancial 

performance for fi scal 2004. Sales for 

the fi scal year increased 17 percent to 

$1.4 billion from $1.2 billion in fi scal 

2003. Excluding acquisitions, growth was 

primarily due to aggressive marketing of 

Agilysys products and services, against the 

backdrop of improved capital spending in 

 As part of our repositioning, in Sep-

tember shareholders voted to change the 

Company’s name to Agilysys, Inc. At that 

time, we launched our new corporate iden-

tity —  Agilysys — a name we believe better 

identifi es our Company as a leading provider 

of enterprise computer solutions. 

Acquiring Complementary 

Solutions Businesses

In addition to renaming the Company, 

Agilysys completed two acquisitions — both 

funded with cash — focused on expanding 

our solutions offerings.  Both acquisitions 

have been integrated into our business and 

are highly complementary to our enterprise 

computer solutions business. 

 The fi rst acquisition was Kyrus Corpora-

tion. The Kyrus acquisition, which closed in 

September 2003, quickly established the 

Company as a leading, nationwide provider 

of retail industry solutions and services, and 

is now the foundation of our Retail Solutions 

Group. The acquisition opens new markets, 

expands our customer base, increases our 

solutions offerings and provides access to 

additional products. The acquisition and its 

focus on the retail market further strength-

ens our reputation as a leading provider 

of enterprise computer solutions across a 

diverse set of industries.
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information technology in the U.S. 

 Gross margin also improved for Agilysys. The improvement 

is primarily attributable to the higher gross margin percentage 

generated by our recent acquisitions.

 Fiscal 2004 net income increased to $8.7 million, or $0.31 

per share, from last year’s net loss of $42.1 million, or $1.54 per 

share, which included a one-time charge of $34.8 million result-

ing from the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle 

related to goodwill.

 Operating expense improved to 10.3 percent of sales, from 

13.4 percent in the previous fi scal year.  This improvement was pri-

marily due to cost containment and increased operating leverage. 

Continuing Progress on Our Long-Term Goals

I am very pleased with the progress the Agilysys organization 

has made over the last fi scal year. We met or exceeded all of our 

business goals as well as each of our fi nancial goals for fi scal 

2004. Our progress included advancing operating profi t margin 

to 2.6 percent of sales, compared with a negative 0.6 percent in 

the prior year, as well as driving return on invested capital to 7.7 

percent, a full six months earlier than originally projected.

 In fi scal 2005 we expect Agilysys will continue to grow sales 

faster than our markets and grow profi ts faster than sales. We 

anticipate an increase in operating profi t to the range of 3.0 to 

3.5 percent, and expect to generate a return on invested capital 

of 10 to 12 percent. 

Signifi cant Financial Flexibility

Agilysys has signifi cant fi nancial fl exibility to fund 

organic growth and to make acquisitions. This 

gives us the ability to expand the number of 

customers and markets we serve, as well as 

the breadth of solutions we offer. At the end of 

fi scal 2004, cash and short-term invest-

ments were $150 million. The Com-

pany has virtually no short-term debt, 

and long-term debt was reduced by 

$71 million to $60 million, which 

was 54 percent less than the previous 

year. 

[ ARTHUR RHEIN – CHAIRMAN, PRESIDENT AND CEO ]



 In short, we are capitalized for growth 

and have the fl exibility to take advantage of 

the many opportunities before us.

Executing Our Strategy by 

Providing Solutions to Reseller Partners 

and Corporate Customers

As we continue to reposition the Company 

as an enterprise technology solutions provid-

er, Agilysys will refi ne and adapt its business 

strategy and tactics. At its core this will con-

sist of enhancing our competitive position by 

providing a compelling value proposition to 

current and potential customers as an inte-

grator for their server, storage, software and 

services needs. This will allow them to part-

ner with a single solutions provider for their 

enterprise computing requirements. 

 Success in the enterprise computer 

solutions business is based on a company’s 

ability to understand customer needs, keep 

abreast of the latest technology trends, and 

apply both to build solutions that meet the 

needs of the customer.

 Agilysys understands this and has built 

a value proposition with our customers and 

partners in the information technology solu-

tions industry. Our customers include both a 

network of resellers that provide enterprise 

computer solutions, as well as large- and 

medium-sized corporate end-users across a 

diverse set of industries, and institutions 

such as hospitals and universities. 

 For our partners, we broaden their reach 

through tailored services. We create sales 

opportunities through defi ned marketing 

programs and provide skilled certifi ed con-

sultants to assist in expediting and closing 

the sale. We confi gure, build and ship di-

rectly to our partners’ customers. Finally, we 

assist with implementation services to offer 

our partners a more complete solution.

 For our corporate customers, we provide 

information technology products, services 

and software tailored to meet their specifi c 

needs. Our highly trained and certifi ed tech-

nical staff assists customers in the develop-

ment and implementation of mission-critical 

computing infrastructure projects, as well 

as proprietary, customized software to run 

their businesses. Agilysys provides these 

customers comprehensive solutions through 

problem analysis, design consulting, systems 

integration, maintenance, training, and sup-

port. In some cases, we provide outsourcing 

of the customer’s entire information tech-

nology function and in others we act as a 

technology liaison between the company and 

numerous technology providers. 

 With the overwhelming number of hard-

ware manufacturers and software develop-

ers in existence, the need for our expertise 

in selecting and integrating the right prod-

ucts and services to offer our customers a 

comprehensive solution is ever-present in 

today’s business environment.

A Focus on Corporate Development

Agilysys is focused on investing its resourc-

es to provide the greatest returns for the 

Company and our shareholders. To ensure 

that Agilysys achieves this goal, the Com-

pany created an executive-level Corporate 

Development department in fi scal 2004 

focused on strategies to drive our enterprise 

computer technology solutions business. 

 Our reduction in debt has given us a 

stronger, more fl exible balance sheet and 
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be independent.  The audit, compensation, 

and nominating and corporate governance 

committee charters are reviewed regularly, 

and are revised where appropriate to refl ect 

current legal and regulatory standards. This 

ongoing commitment to integrity has always 

formed the foundation of our management 

practices and corporate governance, and en-

sures the trust that our shareholders place 

in us is well-founded.  We will continue to 

hold ourselves to these standards in con-

ducting and reporting our business.

Positioned for the Future

As a result of our accomplishments in fi scal 

2004, Agilysys has a solid platform from 

which to execute its strategy and deliver 

value to shareholders. We are building on 

this foundation with a new singular focus 

that has given Agilysys signifi cant fi nancial 

fl exibility and a wealth of opportunities 

to pursue.

 I would like to close by thanking our 

customers for their loyalty, our employees 

for their hard work and dedication, and our 

shareholders for their continued support. 

We are well-positioned for a bright future, 

and we look forward to reporting our prog-

ress to you.

 

 

Arthur Rhein

Chairman, President and 

Chief Executive Offi cer

June 14, 2004

we expect to generate signifi cant free cash 

fl ow over the next year.  The Company con-

tinues to have the fi nancial fl exibility to fund 

acquisitions that will expand and enhance 

our business. 

 Agilysys will evaluate any prospective 

acquisition based on how well it provides 

the Company an opportunity to accelerate 

growth by expanding our customer base, 

extending the Agilysys reach into new mar-

kets, or broadening the range of solutions 

the Company offers. In addition, Agilysys 

will require any acquisition to improve the 

Company’s fi nancial performance within a 

reasonable period of time and create value 

for shareholders.

 The strategic goal at Agilysys is 

to produce steady, profi table growth and 

consistently improve returns for our share-

holders. In the long term, the Company 

expects to become the recognized leader 

in the enterprise computer technology solu-

tions industry.

Agilysys Corporate Governance

Agilysys has long been managed to the 

highest standards of integrity, honesty, and 

ethical conduct.  These guiding principles 

are refl ected in our Company’s culture.  

With the renewed prominence of corporate 

responsibility in recent years, Agilysys man-

agement and the Board of Directors have 

taken the opportunity to review the Com-

pany’s governance policies and procedures 

to confi rm that, at a mininum, they meet 

and exceed evolving legislative, regulatory, 

and stock exchange listing requirements.  

The Board has reaffi rmed our commitment 

that a substantial majority of our directors 

5
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AG I LYSYS  B U S I N E S S  G R O U P S

Agilysys markets its hardware, software, and services through 

four groups: 

•     KeyLink Systems Group

•     Enterprise Solutions Group

•     Hospitality Solutions Group   

•     Retail Solutions Group

P R O F E S S I O N A L  S E R V I C E S

Agilysys enhances the products and services it offers across each of its 

business groups through professional services. These professional ser-

vices allow the Company to further differentiate itself in the marketplace 

and position Agilysys as a leading provider of comprehensive technology 

solutions. Delivered by highly trained information technology engineers 

with an average of more than 10 years of experience, the professional 

services offered by Agilysys include:

•     Custom software applications;

•     High-availability services;

•     Twenty-four-hour help desk;

•     Business consulting;

•     Enterprise system staging and testing;

•     Enterprise system implementation;

•     Hardware and software maintenance; and

•     Training.

S O F T W A R E

H A R D W A R E

S E R V I C E S

A G I L E  [ S Y S T E M S ]
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H A R D W A R E

S O F T W A R E

S E R V I C E S



C U S T O M E R  S O L U T I O N  –  

I D X  S Y S T E M S  C O R P O R A T I O N

IDX Systems Corporation (Nasdaq: IDXC) provides 

information technology solutions to hundreds of 

health care providers and institutions. These sys-

tems are designed to maximize value in the deliv-

ery of health care, improve the quality of patient 

services, enhance medical outcomes, and reduce 

the cost of care. 

 In 2003, the IDX Imagecast operating unit, 

which offers enterprise medical information and 

management solutions, approached KeyLink Sys-

tems Group to design a custom process to more 

effectively deliver hardware and software solutions 

to its health care clients. One of the objectives of 

this process was to streamline delivery and instal-

lation of systems at Imagecast customers’ physi-

cal locations. 

 KSG responded with a technical partner-

ship program that used Imagecast’s innovative 

software solutions and Agilysys expertise in 

technology distribution, with the goal of accel-

erating Imagecast time-to-market, while reduc-

ing total cost of sales. Part of this seamless 

partnership included integrating a dedicated 

KSG support team into Imagecast’s current busi-

ness processes. 

 Specifi c tactics of the program included 

system construction and confi guration, testing, 

and installation of the required IDX proprietary 

applications. Once these systems were built, KSG 

also provided Imagecast direct access to the newly 

confi gured hardware via secure, high-speed digital 

connections at the Agilysys Systems Integration 

Value-Added Center (SIVAC).  This access enabled 

Imagecast technical experts to make fi nal adjust-

ments and perform system testing from their work 

locations hundreds of miles away. Finally, KSG pro-

vided logistical services to deliver fi nished systems 

ready for installation at Imagecast customer sites. 

 Agilysys and Imagecast collaboration is helping 

Imagecast achieve its goal to provide world-class 

solutions to its health care industry customers. 

9

K E Y L I N K  SYS T E M S  G R O U P

KeyLink Systems Group (KSG) is the primary connection to Agilysys reseller partners, distributing mid-

range computer systems including servers, software, services, and storage products. Agilysys KSG is a 

critical link in the information technology supply chain for thousands of solution providers and resellers, 

acting as a liaison between these companies and suppliers. 

 These geographically or industry-focused resellers and solution providers turn to KSG for its ability to 

provide them better ways to do business. Specifi cally, KSG broadens its resellers’ reach by creating sales 

opportunities through defi ned marketing programs, as well as providing skilled certifi ed consultants to 

assist in expediting and closing the sale. 

 KSG also confi gures, builds and ships directly to its partners’ customers and offers implementation 

services, which include access to a state-of-the-art systems integration facility, and quality pre- and 

post-sale technical support. KSG helps ensure its reseller partners’ success by maintaining an extensive 

inventory for quick order turnaround. 
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C U S T O M E R  S O L U T I O N  –  

T H E  E L E C T R I C  R E L I A B I L I T Y

C O U N C I L  O F  T E X A S ,  I N C .  ( E R C O T )

ERCOT is the corporation that administers the 

Texas power grid and one of 10 regional reliability 

councils in North America. The organization serves 

7 million customers and oversees the operation of 

over 78,000 megawatts of power generation and 

37,500 miles of transmission lines in Texas. ERCOT 

serves approximately 85 percent of the state’s 

electric load and 75 percent of the geographic land 

area in Texas. Ensuring a reliable IT infrastructure 

is not only critical to ERCOT, but also to the various 

Texas electric power companies it serves.

 Agilysys has been providing systems and 

services to support ERCOT’s Energy Management 

Marketing System (EMMS) over the last two years.  

In October 2003, Agilysys presented ERCOT with 

an IT consolidation plan that was designed to pro-

vide a higher-performing, high-availability solution.   

 After ERCOT IT executives accepted the plan, 

Agilysys Professional Services team members per-

formed an overall storage assessment, which docu-

mented the need for a multimillion-dollar upgrade 

to ERCOT’s EMMS environment. This assessment 

also provided a cost-benefi t analysis of the up-

grade. ERCOT then engaged Agilysys Professional 

Services to design, plan, manage and coordinate 

the decommissioning of the old environment, as 

well as successfully implement the rapid deploy-

ment of the new solution to meet ERCOT’s strict 

standards and high expectations.

 Completed in January 2004, the upgrade 

helped ERCOT realize substantial improvement in 

system performance and increased service levels 

of its EMMS.  ERCOT continues to rely on Agilysys 

enterprise technology experts for consulting assis-

tance on a number of current initiatives.

E N T E R P R I S E  S O L U T I O N S  G R O U P

Agilysys assists large companies in information technology implementation through its Enterprise Solu-

tions Group (ESG). Many of our corporate customers call on ESG when their internal information technol-

ogy departments have evolved into a complicated mix of different technology platforms, suppliers and 

service providers that create impediments to reaching both their business and technology goals. 

 In these mission-critical environments, ESG technology engineers draw upon their certifi ed skills and 

industry knowledge, as well as the strategic alliances Agilysys has with leading technology suppliers, to 

provide customers an initial needs assessment, propose revised architecture and implementation plans, 

and, fi nally, assist customers in executing these plans. 

 Agilysys ESG performs server consolidations, migrations, installations and upgrades in single, multiple 

or cluster environments. The key to a successful implementation for ESG customers is not only to ensure 

that hardware and software arrive and are running smoothly, but also that the required “skills transfer” from 

our experts to the customer takes place. The project is only complete once the ESG team has ensured the 

clients’ internal information technology department is ready to manage the new confi guration. 

 Post-implementation, ESG offers a number of services focused on making certain the customer real-

izes the full capability of its IT infrastructure. These services include staff augmentation with experienced 

ESG installers, remote monitoring services from our facilities, and on-site system health checks.

10
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C U S T O M E R S O L U T I O N – 

C O L O N I A L W I L L I A M S B U R G F O U N DAT I O N

The Colonial Williamsburg Foundation is a not-

for-profi t educational institution that preserves 

and operates the restored 18th-century town of 

Williamsburg, Virginia, the nation’s largest living 

history museum.  In the 18th century, Virginia 

was the capital of Britain’s largest, wealthiest, 

and most populous outpost of the empire in the 

New World. Throughout its 301-acre historic area 

buildings, trades shops and museum exhibitions, 

Colonial Williamsburg interprets the origins of the 

idea of America in the years leading up to the 

American Revolution. 

 In addition to providing an unparalleled his-

toric perspective, Colonial Williamsburg also of-

fers guests some of the fi nest modern hospitality 

anywhere, including the acclaimed Williamsburg 

Inn, a historic landmark; the new family-focused 

Woodlands Hotel & Suites; four authentic operating 

colonial taverns; on-site retail stores; and the ac-

claimed Golden Horseshoe Golf Club, home to two 

of the country’s premier golf courses. 

 While Colonial Williamsburg is proud of its 

world-class guest service, the Foundation was chal-

lenged to fi nd a way to manage the ticket ordering 

process across all of its venues, including inventory 

control and block seating offers. At that time the 

Foundation was already using property manage-

ment software from Agilysys to manage guest 

reservations at its fi ve hotel properties. 

 In September 2002, Agilysys approached Colo-

nial Williamsburg with the possibility of implement-

ing its ShowGate Ticketing System as a solution to 

this need. 

 The Foundation made the decision to imple-

ment ShowGate.  The addition of ShowGate enabled 

the Foundation to immediately offer availability in-

formation and confi rmation to its guests at the fi rst 

interaction — usually when the guests were making 

their hotel reservations through the Foundation’s 

toll-free phone number, 1-800-HISTORY. Agilysys 

also provided assistance to Colonial Williamsburg 

in enabling the system on the Foundation’s Web 

site so guests could make hotel and activity res-

ervations, as well as any other necessary changes, 

directly from their personal computers by visiting 

www.ColonialWilliamsburg.com.
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H O S P I TA L I T Y  S O L U T I O N S  G R O U P

With its acquisition of Inter-American Data, Inc. (IAD) in February of 2004, Agilysys became the leading 

provider of information solutions for property and inventory management in the hotel casino and destina-

tion resort segments of the U.S. hospitality industry. IAD is now the Hospitality Solutions Group (HSG). 

 In addition to using its proprietary software application, most major casinos and many large resorts 

use HSG in the design, implementation and support of their property management systems. From check-in 

to check-out, HSG systems allow these organizations to manage thousands of occupancies on any given 

day by integrating the hotel front offi ce, entertainment, management accounting, customer service, and 

housekeeping functions. Agilysys systems also allow hotel casinos and resorts to monitor and respond to 

their guests’ individual service preferences. 

 Agilysys also augments its property management systems with a materials management system that 

enables customers to track menu ingredients and replenish their food, beverage, and other perishable and 

non-perishable inventory. 

 Agilysys HSG customers include famous hotel casinos such as Caesars Palace, Harrah’s, and The 

Venetian, as well as popular restaurant chains and public arenas, including the Air Canada Centre, home 

to the Toronto Raptors and Maple Leafs sports teams. 

A G I L E  [ S O L U T I O N S ]



C U S T O M E R  S O L U T I O N  –  

F O O D  L I O N ,  L L C

Food Lion, LLC is a member of Delhaize America, 

the U.S. division of Brussels-based Delhaize Group 

(NYSE: DEG), and one of the largest supermarket 

chains in the United States with 1,200 stores in 

11 Southeastern and Mid-Atlantic states. Known 

for its price leadership and quality assurance, 

Food Lion stores sell more than 28,000 different 

products, including national and regional brands, 

as well as a growing number of high-quality private 

label products. 

 In early 2003, following the successful upgrade 

of all its in-store checkout systems the year before, 

Food Lion decided to implement a technology-driven 

perpetual inventory system at all of its U.S. loca-

tions. The implementation of this system would pro-

vide supermarket management greater control and 

visibility over its markdown processes, inventory po-

sitions, and store-level in-stocks, all of which would 

contribute to a better shopping experience for its 

customers and better profi tability for the store.

 In conjunction with this initiative, Food Lion 

engaged RSG to assist in the system architecture 

plans, integration with its other information sys-

tems, and the roll-out of the necessary hardware 

to implement the system across its entire super-

market chain. 

 In June 2003, Agilysys and Food Lion conduct-

ed a successful 10-store pilot test of the system, 

and started a roll-out to all 1,200 Food Lion loca-

tions, to be completed in October 2004. This roll-

out included server installations in each store and 

the set-up and distribution of 3,600 wireless hand-

held units. Food Lion store associates are now us-

ing these wireless units to scan individual item bar 

codes in its newly streamlined price markdown and 

inventory processes.

 Also included in the program was a direct store 

delivery application from Agilysys, which allowed 

Food Lion to instantaneously record items in its 

inventory that bypass traditional supply chain distri-

bution centers. These items include those delivered 

directly to Food Lion stores from its vendor partners, 

such as soda pop and snack chips. Today, Food Lion 

continues to use Agilysys resources and considers 

the Company a valuable partner in its system main-

tenance and help-desk service programs.
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R E TA I L  S O L U T I O N S  G R O U P

In fi scal 2004, Agilysys became the retail industry’s leading provider of IBM solutions and services 

through its acquisition of Kyrus Corporation. Now branded under the Agilysys name, the Retail Solutions 

Group (RSG) designs solutions that help make retail customers more productive and their customers more 

satisfi ed. Serving supermarket, chain drug, hospitality and general retail areas, RSG custom-designs these 

solutions by combining consulting, hardware, software and services. 

Working fi rst to understand the unique challenges that retail customers face in their businesses, RSG 

proposes solutions that improve operational effi ciency, technology utilization, customer satisfaction, and 

in-store profi tability. In many instances, these recommendations include customer relationship manage-

ment, pricing, and inventory management systems. 

After the diagnostic phase, RSG provides its customers comprehensive implementation plans 

and schedules. RSG also supplies the complete package of hardware needed to operate the systems. 

These  plans  include servers, receipt printers, point-of-sale monitors, and wireless devices for in-store use 

by the retailer’s store associates. 

RSG also offers customers the latest in retail system technology. For example, it is currently testing 

an in-store wireless shopping system whereby shoppers operate handheld computers with integrated bar 

code scanners, enabling them to scan and bag purchases while the handheld device simultaneously re-

cords the items. The shopper then checks out by scanning an “end of trip” bar code, which automatically 

downloads the order into a register for the payment transaction.  

A G I L E  [ S Y S T E M S ]
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C U S T O M E R  S O L U T I O N  –

C A E S A R S  E N T E R T A I N M E N T

Caesars Entertainment, Inc. (NYSE: CZR) is one of 

the world’s leading gaming companies. With $4.5 

billion in annual net revenue, 29 properties in fi ve 

countries on four continents, 29,000 hotel rooms, 

2 million square feet of casino space and 55,000 

employees, the Caesars portfolio is unequaled in 

the gaming industry. 

 In the summer of 2000, Caesars Entertain-

ment began to search for a way to enhance the 

functionality of its imaging technology by expand-

ing the scanning and retrieval capabilities of its 

domestic casino resorts.  The initial focus was on 

the Caesars Tahoe casino in Northern Nevada. The 

goal was to enable associates to access customer 

information in real time to make positive identifi ca-

tion of customers and view stored information criti-

cal to a specifi c customer transaction. 

 As a solution, Agilysys presented Caesars with 

its document imaging product. The product utilizes 

proprietary technology that allows users to quickly 

archive and retrieve any business document, in-

cluding those containing customer information. 

This technology helps Caesars associates execute 

the world-class services their customers have 

come to expect. 

 In addition to using the document imaging 

product for its credit application process at the 

Caesars Tahoe location, the company now uses 

Agilysys document imaging products at many of its 

other properties — including Bally’s, Paris, and the 

Flamingo in Las Vegas — and for other business 

processes, such as room key verifi cation, hotel 

registration, and accounts payable.

17

N E W T E C H N O L O GY  S O L U T I O N S  F R O M AG I LYSYS

Agilysys is continually bringing new, proprietary technology to its customers and the marketplace. An 

example of this is document imaging technology obtained through the acquisition of Inter-American Data, 

for which the Company was granted a U.S. patent in May 2004.

 Agilysys now provides customers with document management software solutions that allow them to 

instantly access image records of “business-critical” transactions or deliver these image records to the 

appropriate internal, customer, or vendor destination in real time. 

 This platform-independent technology also allows Agilysys customers to easily archive and store 

paper records of past transactions by easily converting them to electronic digital images. These transac-

tions include checks, invoices, purchase orders, receipts, or virtually any form that usually would need to 

be produced to validate any type of transaction.

 Agilysys document management software enables users, along with their customers and vendors, to 

collaborate on any stored business transactions, including those that have traditionally been documented 

with paper back-up. This functionality helps Agilysys customers improve their organization’s cash fl ow and 

customer relations.

A G I L E  [ S O L U T I O N S ]
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part I

Item 1. Business

Overview

In September 2003, shareholders of the former Pioneer-Standard Electronics, Inc. approved an amendment to the

Company’s amended Articles of Incorporation to change the name of the Company from Pioneer-Standard

Electronics, Inc. to Agilysys, Inc. (the ‘‘Company’’ or ‘‘Agilysys’’). Following the approval of the name change, the

Company launched a new identity branding campaign, positioning the Agilysys name with employees, customers,

suppliers, shareholders and industry analysts.

Agilysys is a leading distributor and reseller focused on enterprise computer technology solutions. Enterprise

computer solutions are an important part of the information technology (‘‘IT’’) of medium to large corporations

and have a significant influence on the performance and efficiency of those corporations. Agilysys offers technol-

ogy solutions to address strategic business needs of these end-users through the distribution and reselling of

complex servers, storage, software and services.

Agilysys strives to be the preferred strategic link between its suppliers and customers by providing rewardable

differentiated value. The Company’s role is to provide customers with solutions to integrate their systems,

improve their business environment and solve information technology challenges. Headquartered in Cleveland,

Ohio, the Company has sales offices throughout North America and maintains strategic investments in the United

States and Europe.

During 2004, the Company completed two acquisitions, enhancing the core enterprise computer solutions

business. Agilysys now provides its customers software applications and services focused on the retail and

hospitality markets.

Reference herein to any particular year or quarter generally refers to the Company’s fiscal year periods ended

March 31.

History and significant events

Agilysys was organized as an Ohio corporation in 1963. While originally focused on electronic components
1distribution, the Company grew to become a leading distributor in both electronic components and enterprise

computer systems products and solutions.

Prior to February 2003, the Company was structured into two divisions, which were classified into two

reportable operating segments, the Computer Systems Division (‘‘CSD’’), which focused on the distribution and

reselling of enterprise computer systems products and solutions, and the Industrial Electronics Division (‘‘IED’’),

which focused on the distribution of electronic components. Each division represented, on average, approximately

one-half of the Company’s total revenues. The Company’s third reportable segment contained corporate costs and

the results of operations of Aprisa, Inc., the Company’s majority-owned software business, which focused on

creating software for the electronic components market. On February 28, 2003, the Company completed the sale

of substantially all of the assets and liabilities of IED for $240 million, of which $13 million and $227 million were

collected in 2004 and 2003, respectively. The Company also announced its strategic transformation to focus

solely on its enterprise computer solutions business and, as a result, became one reportable operating segment.

The proceeds from the sale have increased the Company’s financial flexibility and have been used to reduce debt

and fund growth of the Company’s enterprise computer solutions business, both organically and through acquisi-

tion. As a result of the sale, the Company’s financial statements for fiscal years 2003 and 2002 have been

restated to reflect the assets and liabilities and the operating results of IED as discontinued operations.

On September 30, 2003, Agilysys completed the first of two acquisitions in 2004. The Company acquired

Kyrus Corporation, an IBM˛ Master Distributor and Premier Business Partner in retail sales solutions. The

purchase price was $29.6 million, which was funded by cash. With this acquisition, Agilysys is the leading provider

of IBM retail solutions and services, across four major market segments: supermarket, chain drug, general retail

and hospitality. Agilysys now offers a wide range of services and solutions nationwide, including hardware and

software products and extensive professional services that ensure continuous retail operations. Professional

services include technology consulting, software customization, staging, implementation, hardware and software

maintenance and 24/7 support service capabilities. Agilysys also makes these products and services available to

its existing partners and customers. Since the date of acquisition, Kyrus Corporation contributed $67 million of

revenue and $11.6 million of gross margin to the Company in fiscal 2004.



On February 18, 2004, Agilysys completed its second 2004 acquisition. The Company acquired substantially

all of the assets of Inter-American Data, Inc. (‘‘IAD’’). The purchase price was $36.5 million, and was funded by

cash. As with the Kyrus acquisition, the addition of IAD opened up a new market, broadened the Company’s

customer base, and increased its services and product offerings. With this acquisition Agilysys is the leading

developer and provider of technology solutions for property and inventory management in the casino and destina-

tion resort segments of the hospitality industry in the United States. Most of the major casinos and many of the

largest resorts use Agilysys to design, implement and support their property management systems (‘‘PMS’’) for

the hotel front office, management accounting, customer service and housekeeping functions. Since the date of

acquisition, IAD contributed $3.7 million of revenue and $2.2 million of gross margin to the Company in 2004.

Agilysys supplements its PMS offering with a materials management system (‘‘MMS’’) that enables the

tracking and replenishment of food, beverage and other perishable and non-perishable inventory. In addition to

gaming customers, the market for the MMS products includes restaurant chains and public arenas.

With the acquisition of IAD, the Company also develops and markets proprietary document management

solutions with a focus on the hospitality, health care, retail and government markets. These solutions enable the

capture, storage, control, manipulation and distribution of scanned and electronically originated images.

Industry

The worldwide IT products and services industry generally consists of (1) manufacturers and suppliers which sell

directly to distributors, resellers and end-users, (2) distributors, which sell to resellers and, (3) resellers, which

sell directly to end-users.

A variety of reseller categories exist, including value-added resellers (‘‘VARs’’), corporate resellers, systems

integrators, original equipment manufacturers (‘‘OEMs’’), direct marketers and independent dealers. The large

number of resellers makes it cost-efficient for suppliers to rely on a small number of distributors to serve this

diverse customer base. Similarly, due to the large number of suppliers and products, resellers often cannot or

choose not to establish direct purchasing relationships. As a result, many of these resellers are heavily dependent

on distribution partners, such as Agilysys, that possess the necessary systems infrastructure, capital, inventory

availability, and distribution and integration facilities to provide fulfillment and other services, such as financing,

logistics, marketing and technical support needs. These services allow resellers to reduce or eliminate their
2 inventory and warehouse requirements, and reduce their staffing needs for marketing and systems integration,

thereby lowering their financial needs and reducing their costs.

Enterprise computer products distribution continues to perform a vital role in delivering IT products to market

in an efficient, cost-effective manner. Manufacturers are pursuing strategies to outsource functions such as

logistics, order management and technical support to supply chain partners as they look to minimize costs and

investments in sales and marketing and focus on their core competencies in manufacturing, research and

development, and demand creation.

Distribution plays an important role in this outsource strategy by allowing the manufacturers to decrease

variable costs as the distributors deliver a streamlined approach to an extended customer base through their

technically skilled sales organization. The Company also believes that suppliers will continue to embrace the

distribution channel for enterprise computer solutions in order to maintain sales, marketing and technical exper-

tise in key markets such as the mid-market sector through the extended reseller network. The economies of scale

and reach of large industry-leading enterprise computer solutions providers are expected to continue to be

significant competitive advantages in this marketplace.

Fiscal 2004 results were favorably impacted by the Company’s ability to quickly capitalize on improving trends

in the marketplace, including increased IT spending across both small- and medium-sized end-users as well as

large corporate customers. According to information published in April 2004 by IDC, a leading provider of

technology intelligence and market data, worldwide IT spending is projected to grow at a compound annual rate of

approximately 4 to 6 percent through 2007 for enterprise hardware, software and services. Since Agilysys is well

entrenched in the server, storage and software markets, the Company expects to benefit from the projected

growth in the overall industry. However, a further slowdown in this market could have a substantial negative effect

on the Company’s revenues and results of operations.

Products and services distributed and sources of supply

Agilysys focuses on the distribution and reselling of three specific product areas — servers, storage and

software — and provides other specialized services to supply a complete business solution. The Company offers

mid-range enterprise servers, comprehensive storage solutions including hardware and software, and database,



Internet and systems management software. These products are packaged together as new systems or to

enhance existing systems, depending on the customer’s needs.

With the Kyrus acquisition, Agilysys now offers specific retail hardware and software products and extensive

professional services that ensure continuous retail operations. The professional services include technology

consulting, software customization, staging, implementation, hardware and software maintenance and 24/7

support service capabilities. With the addition of IAD, Agilysys now offers technology solutions consisting of

hardware, software and services for property and inventory management within the hospitality industry. The

offerings include PMS, MMS and lodging management systems (‘‘LMS’’). Also, as a result of this acquisition, the

Company offers proprietary document management software solutions.

The Company sells products supplied by five primary suppliers. During 2004, 2003 and 2002, products

purchased from the Company’s two largest suppliers accounted for 88%, 83% and 85%, respectively, of the

Company’s sales volume. The Company’s largest supplier, IBM, supplied 72%, 63% and 57% of the Company’s

sales volumes in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

With the acquisition of Compaq Computer Corporation (‘‘Compaq’’) by Hewlett-Packard Company (‘‘HP’’) in

May 2002, sales of HP products (including Compaq) accounted for 16%, 20% and 28% in 2004, 2003 and

2002, respectively.

The loss of either of the top two suppliers or a combination of certain other suppliers could have a material

adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition unless alternative

products manufactured by others are available to the Company. In addition, although the Company believes that

its relationships with suppliers are good, there can be no assurance that the Company’s suppliers will continue to

supply products on terms acceptable to the Company. Through distributor agreements with its suppliers, Agilysys

is authorized to sell all or some of the suppliers’ products. The authorization with each supplier is subject to

specific terms and conditions regarding such items as product return privileges, price protection policies,

purchase discounts and supplier incentive programs such as, sales volume incentives and cooperative advertising

reimbursements. A substantial portion of the Company’s profitability results from these supplier incentive pro-

grams. In addition, a substantial portion of the Company’s advertising and marketing program expenses are

reimbursed through cooperative advertising reimbursement programs. These cooperative supplier incentive pro-

grams and advertising programs are at the discretion of the supplier. From time to time, suppliers may terminate
3the right of the Company to sell some or all of their products or change these terms and conditions or reduce or

discontinue the incentives or programs offered. Any such termination or implementation of such changes could

have a material negative impact on the Company’s results of operations.

Inventory

The Company maintains certain levels of inventory in order to ensure that the lead times to its customers remain

competitive. The majority of the products sold by the Company are purchased pursuant to distributor agreements,

which generally provide for inventory return privileges by the Company upon cancellation of a distributor agree-

ment. The distributor agreements also typically provide protection to the Company for product obsolescence and

price erosion. Along with the Company’s inventory management policies and practices, these provisions reduce

the Company’s risk of loss due to slow-moving inventory, supplier price reductions, product updates

or obsolescence.

In some cases, the industry practices discussed above are not embodied in agreements and do not protect

the Company in all cases from declines in inventory value. However, the Company believes that these practices

provide a significant level of protection from such declines, although no assurance can be given that such

practices will continue or that they will adequately protect Agilysys against declines in inventory value. In addition,

the Company’s results of operations depend in part on successful management of the challenges of rapidly

changing technology.

Customers

Agilysys serves customers in most major and secondary markets of North America. The Company’s customer

base includes VARs, which typically are privately held with annual sales of $10 million to $400 million, and

corporate end-users, which range from medium to large corporations, as well as the public sector. A substantial

amount of the Company’s business, whether through resellers or direct, is in the mid-market customer segment,

which is currently the fastest-growing segment in the industry. No single customer accounted for more than

10 percent of the Company’s total sales during 2004.



Uneven sales patterns and seasonality

The Company experiences a disproportionately large percentage of quarterly sales in the last month of the fiscal

quarters. In addition, the Company experiences a seasonal increase in sales during its fiscal third quarter ending

in December. Third quarter sales were 33%, 32% and 29% of annual revenues for 2004, 2003 and 2002,

respectively. The Company believes that this sales pattern is industry-wide. Although the Company is unable to

predict whether this uneven sales pattern will continue over the long term, the Company anticipates that this trend

will remain the same in the foreseeable future.

Backlog

The Company historically has not had a significant backlog of orders. There was no significant backlog at

March 31, 2004.

Competition

The distribution and reselling of enterprise computer systems products is competitive, primarily with respect to

price, but also with respect to service levels. The Company faces competition with respect to developing and

maintaining relationships with customers. The Company competes for customers with other distributors and

occasionally with some of its suppliers. Several of the Company’s largest distribution competitors are significantly

larger primarily due to their international distribution presence. Also, it is possible that certain suppliers may

decide to distribute products directly, which would further heighten competitive pressures.

Growth through acquisitions

With the divestiture of IED, Agilysys has the flexibility to make acquisitions without immediately increasing leverage

or diluting the holdings of existing shareholders. The Company reviews acquisition prospects that could accelerate

the growth of the business by expanding the Company’s customer base, extending the Company’s reach into new

markets and/or broadening the range of solutions offered by the Company. The Company’s continued growth

depends in part on its ability to find suitable acquisition candidates and to consummate and integrate strategic

acquisitions. To proceed, the prospect must have an appropriate valuation based on financial performance

relative to acquisition price. However, acquisitions always present risks and uncertainties that could have a
4 material adverse impact on the Company’s business and results of operations.

Employees

As of March 31, 2004, the Company had 1,365 employees. The Company is not a party to any collective bargaining

agreements, has had no strikes or work stoppages and considers its employee relations to be excellent.

Distribution

Agilysys sells its products principally in the United States and Canada. Sales to customers outside of the United

States and Canada are not a significant portion of the Company’s sales.

Access to information

The Company makes its annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on

Form 8-K, and any amendments to these reports available free of charge through its Internet site

(http://www.agilysys.com) as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with, or

furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (‘‘SEC’’). The information posted on the Company’s

Internet site is not incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition, the SEC maintains an Internet

site (http://www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regard-

ing issuers that file electronically with the SEC.

Item 2. Properties

The Company’s principal corporate offices are located in a 60,450 square foot facility in Mayfield Heights, Ohio.

As of March 31, 2004, the Company owned or leased a total of approximately 827,000 square feet of space for

its operations, of which approximately 726,000 square feet is devoted to product distribution and sales offices.

The Company’s major leases contain renewal options for periods of up to 10 years. For information concerning the

Company’s rental obligations, see the discussion of contractual obligations under Item 7 as well as Note 8 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Part IV hereof. The Company believes that its distribution and

office facilities are well maintained, are suitable and provide adequate space for the operations of the Company.



The Company’s facilities of 100,000 square feet or larger, as of March 31, 2004, are set forth in the table

below.

Type of Approximate Leased or
Location Facility Square Footage Owned

Solon, Ohio Distribution 224,600 Leased

Solon, Ohio Office Facility 102,500 Owned

Twinsburg, Ohio Distribution 106,000 Owned

As a result of the Company’s divestiture of its Industrial Electronics Division in 2003, the distribution facility

in Twinsburg, Ohio was vacant and available for sale at March 31, 2004. This facility was sold in April 2004 for

$2.9 million, which approximated book value.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The Company is not a party to any material pending legal proceedings other than ordinary routine litigation

incidental to its business.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of the Company’s security holders during the last quarter of its fiscal year

ended March 31, 2004.

Item 4A. Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information on the following page is furnished pursuant to Instruction 3 to Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K. The

following table sets forth the name, age, current position and principal occupation and employment during the

past five years through May 1, 2004 of the Company’s executive officers.

There is no relationship by blood, marriage or adoption among the listed officers. Messrs. Rhein and Billick

hold office until terminated as set forth in their employment agreements. All other executive officers serve until
5his or her successor is elected and qualified.



executive officers of the company

Name Age Current Position Other Positions

Arthur Rhein 58 Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer of the

President and Chief Executive Company from April 2002 to April 2003.

Officer of the Company since Prior to 2000 to March 31, 2002, President

April 30, 2003. and Chief Operating Officer.

Robert J. Bailey 47 Executive Vice President since Prior to 2000 to May 2002, Senior Vice

May 2002. President, Marketing of the Company’s

Computer Systems Division.

Steven M. Billick 48 Executive Vice President, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial

Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer since May 2002. From April 2000 to

Officer since May 2003. May 2002, Senior Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer. Prior to 2000 to April

2000, Business Consultant for Management

Consulting Services.

Peter J. Coleman 49 Executive Vice President since Prior to 2000 to May 2002, Senior Vice

May 2002. President, Sales of the Company’s

Computer Systems Division.

Martin F. Ellis 39 Executive Vice President, Prior to 2000 to June 2003, Senior Vice

Corporate Development and President, Principal, and Head of Corporate

Investor Relations since Finance for Stern Stewart & Co.

July 2003.
6

Edward J. Gaio 50 Vice President and Controller From January 2000 to April 2001,

of the Company since Controller. From prior to 1999 to 2000,

April 2001. Director of Finance and Planning of the

Company’s Industrial Electronics Division.

James L. Sage 49 Executive Vice President, From May 2001 to May 2002, Senior Vice

Chief Information Officer since President and Chief Information Officer.

May 2002. From April 2000 to May 2001, Vice

President and Chief Information Officer. Prior

to 2000 to April 2000, Vice President,

Information Systems.

Richard A. Sayers II 53 Executive Vice President, From April 2000 to May 2002, Senior Vice

Chief Human Resources President, Corporate Services. Prior to 2000

Officer since May 2002. to April 2000, Senior Vice President,

Human Resources.

Kathryn K. Vanderwist 44 Vice President, General From April 2000 to April 2001, General

Counsel and Assistant Counsel and Assistant Secretary. From July

Secretary since April 2001. 1999 to March 2000, Corporate Counsel.

From 1998 to July 1999, Litigation Attorney

for Nestle USA, Inc.

Lawrence N. Schultz 56 Secretary of the Company Prior to 2000 to present, Partner of the law

since 1999. firm of Calfee, Halter & Griswold LLP. (1)

(1) The law firm of Calfee, Halter & Griswold LLP serves as counsel to the Company.



part II

Item 5. Market for registrant’s common equity, related shareholder matters, and issuer purchases of

equity securities

The Company’s Common Shares, without par value, are traded on the NASDAQ National Market. Common Share

prices are quoted daily under the symbol ‘‘AGYS.’’ Prior to September 16, 2003, the Company traded under the

symbol ‘‘PIOS.’’ The high and low market prices and dividends per share for the Common Shares for each quarter

during the past two years are presented in the table below:

Year Ended March 31, 2004

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year

Dividends declared per

Common Share $0.03 $0.03 $0.03 $0.03 $0.12

Price range per Common

Share $7.31-$10.41 $8.25-$9.97 $9.16-$11.50 $11.18-$13.81 $7.31-$13.81

Closing Price on last day

of period $8.45 $8.77 $11.15 $11.79 $11.79

Year Ended March 31, 2003

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year

Dividends declared per

Common Share $0.03 $0.03 $0.03 $0.03 $0.12

Price range per Common

Share $10.01-$15.50 $7.20-$11.60 $5.40-$10.13 $7.15-$11.84 $5.40-$15.50

Closing Price on last day

of period $10.39 $7.24 $9.18 $8.44 $8.44 7

As of May 3, 2004, there were 32,177,722 Common Shares (including 3,589,940 subscribed Common

Shares) of Agilysys, Inc. outstanding, and there were 2,539 shareholders of record. The closing price of the

Common Shares on May 3, 2004, was $12.00.

Cash dividends on Common Shares are payable quarterly upon authorization by the Board of Directors.

Regular payment dates are the first day of August, November, February and May. The Company also makes

quarterly distributions on its 6.75% Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust Preferred Securities (the ‘‘Trust

preferred securities’’) to shareholders of record on the fifteenth day preceding the distribution date. Regular

payment dates for these distributions are on the last day of March, June, September and December. The Company

expects to pay comparable cash dividends on its Common Shares and continue to make the distributions on its

Trust preferred securities in the foreseeable future. The Company maintains a Dividend Reinvestment Plan

whereby cash dividends and additional monthly cash investments up to a maximum of $5,000 per month may be

invested in the Company’s Common Shares at no commission cost.
On April 27, 1999, the Company adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan. For further information about the Shareholder

Rights Plan, see Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Part IV hereof.



Item 6. Selected consolidated financial and operating data

The following selected consolidated financial and operating data has been derived from the audited Consolidated

Financial Statements of the Company and should be read in conjunction with the Company’s Consolidated

Financial Statements and the Notes thereto, and Item 7 — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations, which are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

For the Year Ended March 31

(Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share Data) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

Operating Results
Continuing Operations (a)(b)

Net sales $1,403,216 $1,171,631 $1,294,322 $1,431,838 $1,219,489
Income (loss) before income taxes (c)(d)(e) 26,708 (31,484) 4,944 (15,724) 11,753
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 9,684 (11,739) 1,618 (3,713) 6,854
Income (loss) from continuing

operations (c)(d)(e) $ 11,524 $ (26,060) $ (2,911) $ (18,316) $ (1,305)
(Loss) Income from Discontinued Operations,

net of taxes (a) $ (2,861) $ 18,777 $ (4,136) $ 52,892 $ 41,450
Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting

Principle, net of tax (f) — (34,795) — — —
Net Income (Loss) (a)(b)(c)(d)(e)(f) $ 8,663 $ (42,078) $ (7,047) $ 34,576 $ 40,145

Per Share Data
Income (Loss) from Continuing

Operations (a)(b)(c)(d)(e)

Basic $ 0.42 $ (0.96) $ (0.11) $ (0.68) $ (0.05)
Diluted $ 0.41 $ (0.96) $ (0.11) $ (0.68) $ (0.05)

Cash Dividends Per Share $ 0.12 $ 0.12 $ 0.12 $ 0.12 $ 0.12
Book Value Per Share (g) $ 11.14 $ 10.88 $ 12.56 $ 13.18 $ 12.20
Price Range of Common Shares

High $ 13.81 $ 15.50 $ 14.94 $ 16.13 $ 18.75
Low $ 7.31 $ 5.40 $ 7.40 $ 9.13 $ 6.50

Financial Position
Total Assets $ 759,662 $ 773,883 $ 916,937 $1,183,610 $1,113,835

8 Long-Term Debt 59,503 130,995 179,000 390,999 320,205
Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust

Preferred Securities 125,425 143,675 143,675 143,750 143,750
Shareholders’ Equity $ 308,990 $ 298,550 $ 340,697 $ 354,257 $ 324,065
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding

Basic 27,744 27,292 27,040 26,793 26,409
Diluted 27,956 27,292 27,040 26,793 26,409

Other Comparative Data
Average total number of employees (a) 1,365 1,126 1,253 1,314 1,325
Sales per employee (a) $ 1,028 $ 1,041 $ 1,033 $ 1,090 $ 920
Gross margin percent of sales (a) 12.9% 12.7% 13.2% 12.4% 14.6%
Operating expense percent of sales (a)(b)(c) 10.3% 13.4% 12.0% 12.4% 12.8%
Net income (loss) percent of sales (a)(b)(c)(d)(e)(f) 0.6% (3.6)% (0.5)% 2.4% 3.3%

(a) The sale of the Company’s Industrial Electronics Division (‘‘IED’’) and the related discontinuation of the operations of Aprisa, Inc. in
February 2003 represent a disposal of a ‘‘component of an entity’’ as defined in Statement of Financial Accounting Standard
(‘‘SFAS’’) No. 144, ‘‘Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of.’’ Accordingly,
2000 through 2002 have been restated to reflect the results of operations of IED and Aprisa, Inc. as discontinued operations, and to
exclude employees that were related to these businesses. (See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Part IV
hereof.)

(b) In 2004, the Company included the results of operations of both Kyrus Corporation and Inter-American Data, Inc. from their respective
dates of origination.

(c) In fiscal 2004, the Company recorded a restructuring charge of $2.5 million ($1.6 million, after tax) for facility closures, change in
Company name, and other costs associated with the fiscal 2003 reorganization. In March 2003, the Company recorded a restructur-
ing charge of $20.7 million ($13.0 million, after tax) for the impairment of facilities and other assets and for severance costs incurred
in connection with downsizing the Company’s corporate structure. In fiscal 2001, the Company recognized a non-cash write-down of
$14.2 million ($10.8 million, after tax) for the abandonment of certain information technology system assets.

(d) In March 2003, the Company recognized an impairment charge of $14.6 million ($9.2 million, after tax) on an available-for-sale
investment.

(e) In 2004 and 2003, the Company repurchased certain of its 9.5% Senior Notes, which resulted in a pre-tax charge of $8.5 million
($5.4 million, after tax) and $1.2 million ($0.7 million, after tax), respectively, associated with the premium paid and the write-off of
related financing costs.

(f) On April 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142, ‘‘Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,’’ which requires that amortization of
goodwill be replaced with period tests for goodwill impairment. The adoption of SFAS No. 142 resulted in a charge of $34.8 million,
net of tax, which was recorded as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle. (See Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements contained in Part IV hereof.)

(g) Book value per share is determined by dividing shareholders’ equity by shares outstanding less subscribed-for shares and restricted
shares.



Item 7. Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the related

notes that appear elsewhere in this document.

Executive level overview

In September 2003, shareholders of the former Pioneer-Standard Electronics, Inc. approved an amendment to

change the name of the Company to Agilysys, Inc. (the ‘‘Company’’ or ‘‘Agilysys’’). Following the approval of the

name change, the Company launched a new identity branding campaign, positioning the Agilysys name with

employees, customers, suppliers, shareholders and industry analysts.

Fiscal 2004 was a year of single business focus for Agilysys. The single business focus of providing enterprise

computer technology solutions allowed the Company to quickly capitalize on improving trends in the marketplace,

including increased IT spending across small and medium end users, as well as large corporate customers. This

resulted in an increase in net sales and gross margin dollars during 2004 compared with the prior year.

Agilysys was also able to execute two acquisitions that enhanced the Company’s competitive position and

expanded its intellectual capital. The Company completed the acquisitions of Kyrus Corporation, or the Agilysys

Retail Solutions Group and Inter-American Data, Inc., or the Agilysys Hospitality Solutions Group. These acquisi-

tions provide the Company with opportunities for growth in retail and hospitality markets. In addition, the

acquisitions have allowed the Company to enter new markets, broaden its customer base, expand its technology

solutions offering and provide additional selling opportunities for its distribution, reseller and service businesses.

The results of the acquisitions of Kyrus Corporation on September 30, 2003 and Inter-American Data, Inc. on

February 18, 2004 are included in results of operations from their respective dates of acquisition. These results

may not be indicative of future annualized results.

During the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company also recorded a pre-tax gain of $5.0 million resulting from the

settlement of an outstanding lawsuit. The gain is included in ‘‘Other (Income) Expense’’ in the Consolidated

Statement of Operations.

Agilysys significantly reduced the level of outstanding 9.5% Senior Notes in fiscal 2004. During the year the

Company repurchased $71.6 million of Senior Notes, thus reducing its outstanding balance by approximately 55%

from the beginning of the year. The Company recorded losses totaling $8.5 million resulting from the premiums
9paid and deferred costs expensed in connection with these debt retirements. The repurchases significantly

reduced Agilysys’ financial leverage and will result in lower interest expense in 2005.

Agilysys reported Net Income of $8.7 million for 2004, or $0.31 earnings per diluted share on net sales of

$1.4 billion, as compared with a Net Loss of $42.1 million, or $1.54 loss per diluted share on net sales of

$1.2 billion reported in 2003.

The Company intends the discussion of its financial condition and results of operations that follows to provide

information that will assist in understanding financial statements, the changes in certain key items in the financial

statements from year to year, and the primary factors that accounted for those changes, as well as how certain

accounting principles, policies and estimates affect our financial statements.

Critical accounting policies

Agilysys’ discussion and analysis of its financial condition and results of operations are based upon the Com-

pany’s Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting policies

generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires the Company to

make significant estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and

expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates

its estimates, including those related to bad debts, inventories, investments, intangible assets, income taxes,

restructuring and contingencies and litigation. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on

various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form

the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent

from other sources.

The Company’s most significant accounting policies relate to the sale, purchase, distribution and promotion

of its products. The policies discussed below are considered by management to be critical to an understanding of

Agilysys’ Consolidated Financial Statements because their application places the most significant demands on

management’s judgment, with financial reporting results relying on estimation about the effect of matters that are

inherently uncertain. Specific risks for these critical accounting policies are described in the following paragraphs.



For all of these policies, management cautions that future events rarely develop exactly as forecast, and the best

estimates routinely require adjustment.

Revenue Recognition The Company derives revenue from three primary sources: hardware (servers and

storage), software, and services. In general, revenue is recognized when it is realized or realizable and earned.

The Company considers revenue realized or realizable and earned when it has persuasive evidence of an

arrangement, the product has been shipped or services have been provided to the customer, the sales price is

fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. The Company reduces revenue for discounts, sales

incentives, estimated customer returns and other allowances. The Company offers discounts based on the

volume of products and services purchased. Shipping and handling fees billed to customers are recognized as

revenue and the related costs are recognized in ‘‘Costs of Goods Sold’’ in the accompanying Consolidated

Statements of Operations. In addition to this general policy, the following are the specific revenue recognition

policies for each category of revenue.

Hardware

Revenue of hardware sales is recognized generally when the product is shipped to the customer and when there

are no unfulfilled obligations that affect the customer’s final acceptance of the hardware.

The Company’s hardware, software, and services are predominantly sold on a stand alone basis. In limited

occurrences, sales with multiple products and/or services are offered to customers. When elements of hardware,

software, and services are contained in a single arrangement, the Company allocates revenue to each element

based on its relative fair value, provided that such elements meet the criteria for treatment as a separate unit of

accounting in accordance with EITF 00-21, ‘‘Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.’’ If the criteria for

separate unit of accounting are not met, revenue is deferred until such criteria are met or until the period(s) over

which the last undelivered element is delivered.

A portion of the Company’s business involves shipment directly from its suppliers to its customers. In these

transactions, the Company is responsible for negotiating price both with the supplier and customer, payment to

the supplier, establishing payment terms with the customer, product returns, and has risk of loss if the customer

does not make payment. As the principal with the customer, the Company recognizes revenue when the Company

is notified by the supplier that the product has been shipped.
10

Software

Revenue of software sales is recognized in accordance with AICPA Statement of Position 97-2, ‘‘Software Revenue

Recognition,’’ using the residual method. Software revenue is recognized when the software has been delivered

and installed and there are no significant obligations remaining.

Services

Revenue from service contracts is recognized as earned based on the performance requirements of the contract,

generally as the services are provided. In addition, service revenue from maintenance contracts is recognized over

the life of the contract. Unspecified upgrades and technical support relating to software sales are recognized over

the period such items are delivered. The Company does not include with the initial hardware purchase any element

of a maintenance contract. Customers may opt to separately purchase premium service coverage or extended

maintenance beyond the expiration date of the respective product’s standard warranty as offered by the maker of

the product.

The Company also facilitates the sale of certain service contracts between its suppliers and customers.

Revenue derived from such sales is recognized under the net method in accordance with EITF 99-19, ‘‘Reporting

Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as an Agent,’’ since the Company acts as an agent in the transaction.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts The Company maintains allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated

losses resulting from the inability of its customers to make required payments. These allowances are based on

both recent trends of certain customers estimated to be a greater credit risk as well as general trends of the

entire customer pool. If the financial condition of the Company’s customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an

impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. To mitigate this credit risk

the Company performs frequent credit evaluations of its customers.

Inventories Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out basis) or market, net of related

reserves. The Company’s inventory is monitored to ensure appropriate valuation. Adjustments of inventories to

lower of cost or market, if necessary, are based upon contractual provisions governing price protection, stock

rotation (right of return status), and technological obsolescence, as well as turnover and assumptions about

future demand and market conditions. If assumptions about future demand change and/or actual market condi-



tions are less favorable than those projected by management, additional adjustments to inventory valuations may

be required. The Company provides a reserve for obsolescence, which is calculated based on factors including an

analysis of historical sales of products, the age of the inventory and return provisions provided by the distribution

agreements. Actual amounts could be different from those estimated.

Investments The Company holds strategic marketable equity securities that are carried at fair value. Impair-

ment of investment securities results in a charge to operations when a market decline below cost is deemed other

than temporary. Management regularly reviews each investment security for impairment based on criteria that

include the extent to which cost exceeds market value, the duration of the market decline, management’s ability

and intent to hold the investment, and the financial condition of and specific prospects of the issuer. Agilysys also

evaluates available information such as published financial reports and market research and analyzes cyclical

trends within the industry segments in which the various companies operate to determine whether market

declines should be considered other than temporary. When management’s intent or the financial condition of the

issuer changes, or trends in the industry shift dramatically, the Company considers the impairment other than

temporary and records a charge to operations for the market decline.

Deferred Taxes The carrying value of the Company’s deferred tax assets is dependent upon the Company’s

ability to generate sufficient future taxable income in certain tax jurisdictions. Should the Company determine that

it would not be able to realize all or part of its deferred tax assets in the future, an adjustment to the deferred tax

assets would be expensed in the period such determination was made. The Company presently records a

valuation allowance to reduce its deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized.

While the Company has considered future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strate-

gies in assessing the need for the valuation allowance, in the event that the Company were to determine that it

would be able to realize its deferred tax assets in the future in excess of its net recorded amount (including

valuation allowance), an adjustment to the deferred tax asset would increase income in the period such determi-

nation was made.

Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets In assessing the recoverability of the Company’s goodwill and other long-lived

assets, significant assumptions regarding the estimated future cash flows and other factors to determine the fair

value of the respective assets must be made, as well as the related estimated useful lives. If these estimates or

their related assumptions change in the future as a result of changes in strategy or market conditions, the
11Company may be required to record impairment charges for these assets. For further information concerning the

Company’s calculation of impairment, see Notes 1 and 6 in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.

Restructuring and Other Special Charges The Company has recorded a reserve in connection with reorganiz-

ing its ongoing business subsequent to its sale of IED in 2003. This reserve principally includes estimates related

to employee separation costs, the consolidation and impairment of facilities and other assets deemed inconsis-

tent with continuing operations. Actual amounts could be different from those estimated. Determination of the

impairment of assets is discussed above in Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets. Facilities reserves are calculated

using a probability-weighted present value of future minimum lease payments, offset by an estimate for future

sublease income provided by external brokers. Present value is calculated using a risk-free Treasury rate with a

maturity equivalent to the lease term.

Valuation of Accounts Payable The Company’s accounts payable has been reduced by amounts claimed to

vendors for returns, price protection and other amounts related to incentive programs. Amounts related to price

protection and other incentive programs are recorded as adjustments to cost of goods sold or operating expenses,

depending on the nature of the program. There is a time delay between the submission of a claim by the Company

and confirmation of agreement by our vendors. Historically, our estimated claims have approximated amounts

agreed to by our vendors.

Supplier Programs The Company receives funds from suppliers for price protection, product sales incentives

and marketing and training programs, which are generally recorded, net of direct costs, as adjustments to cost of

goods sold or operating expenses according to the nature of the program. The product sales incentives are

generally based on a particular quarter’s sales activity and are primarily formula-based. Some of these programs

may extend over one or more quarterly reporting periods. The Company accrues supplier sales incentives and

other supplier incentives as earned based on sales of qualifying products or as services are provided in accor-

dance with the terms of the related program. Actual supplier sales incentives may vary based on volume or other

sales achievement levels, which could result in an increase or reduction in the estimated amounts previously

accrued, and can, at times, result in significant earnings fluctuations on a quarterly basis.



Results of operations

Fiscal year 2004 compared with fiscal year 2003

Net sales and operating income

Increase
(Decrease)Fiscal Fiscal

(Dollars in Thousands) 2004 2003 $ %

Net Sales $1,403,216 $1,171,631 $231,585 19.8%

Cost of Goods Sold 1,222,314 1,022,378 199,936 19.6%

Gross Margin 180,902 149,253 31,649 21.2%

Gross Margin Percentage 12.9% 12.7%

Operating Expenses

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 141,868 135,899 5,969 4.4%

Restructuring Charges 2,516 20,697 (18,181) (87.8)%

Operating Income (Loss) $ 36,518 $ (7,343) $ 43,861

Operating Income (Loss) Percentage 2.6% (0.6)%

Net sales

The 19.8% increase in net sales from the prior year was primarily attributable to the volume increase in our core

business of $164.2 million as well as the impact of our two acquisitions during the year. Sales volumes were

favorably impacted in 2004 by improved general economic conditions which resulted in higher levels of capital

spending by the Company’s end user customers. More specifically, the improvement in sales from our core

business was largely due to increased sales of IBM pSeries and xSeries products to resellers during 2004. The

two acquisitions made in 2004 added $70.7 million of additional sales.

12 Gross margin

The 21.2% increase in gross margin was primarily attributable to the increase in core business volume, which also

resulted in a higher rate of vendor incentives compared with the prior year. Higher sales volumes in the core

business resulted in a gross margin increase of $20.9 million. This increase was partially offset by a $2.8 million

decrease largely due to a change in sales mix that resulted from an increase in sales volume to resellers. In

addition, the two acquisitions made during the year contributed $13.8 million to gross margin, which favorably

impacted the overall gross margin percentage.

Selling, general and administrative expenses

The 4.4% increase in selling, general and administrative (‘‘SG&A’’) expense was attributable primarily to the two

acquisitions made in 2004, which added $10.7 million of SG&A expense. SG&A expense in the Company’s core

business was $4.2 million lower compared with the prior year, which can be credited to the $9.5 million cost

savings estimate associated with the restructuring activity in 2003, which was offset by an increase in variable

costs related to a 13.7% increase in core business sales volume. Overall, the Company was able to reduce SG&A

as a percentage of sales from 11.6% to 10.1% by leveraging existing infrastructure while increasing sales volume

year over year.

Restructuring charges

In 2003, the Company recorded a charge of $20.7 million relating to the sale of the Company’s Industrial

Electronics Division. As a result of this sale, the Company restructured its remaining business and facilities to

reduce overhead and eliminate assets that were inconsistent with the Company’s strategic plan and were no

longer required. During 2004, additional restructuring costs of $2.5 million were incurred as a result of facility

closures, the change in the Company’s name, and other costs associated with the 2003 reorganization.



Other income and expense

Favorable
Fiscal Fiscal (Unfavorable)

(Dollars in Thousands) 2004 2003 $

Other (Income) Expense

Other Income, net $(6,687) $ (966) $ 5,721

Investment Impairment — 14,600 14,600

Interest Expense, net 8,636 9,343 707

Loss on Retirement of Debt 7,861 1,164 (6,697)

Total Other (Income) Expense, net $ 9,810 $24,141 $14,331

Other income, net in 2004 primarily consists of a favorable litigation settlement of $5.0 million during the

fourth quarter of 2004; $1.0 million in equity and dividend income earned from affiliates; and a $0.9 million

realized gain on the sale of the Company’s investment in Eurodis Electron PLC (‘‘Eurodis’’). In 2003 other income,

net primarily consisted of $1.7 million of equity and dividend income earned from the Company’s investments in

affiliates, partially offset by foreign currency exchange losses.

The investment impairment reported in 2003 represented a non-cash charge to reduce the carrying value of

the Company’s investment in Eurodis Electron PLC (‘‘Eurodis’’) to market value at March 31, 2003. The impair-

ment is discussed in further detail under ‘‘Fiscal year 2003 compared with fiscal year 2002.’’

Interest Expense, net decreased by $0.7 million in 2004 primarily due to lower levels of debt.

The Loss on Retirement of Debt of $7.9 million in 2004 relates to the premiums paid, as well as the

expensing of other deferred financing fees associated with the Company’s repurchase of its Senior Notes, offset

by a gain relative to the Company’s repurchase of Convertible Preferred Securities. The Company repurchased

Senior Notes approximating $71.6 million. In 2003, the $1.2 million expense relates to the repurchase of

approximately $19.0 million of Senior Notes.

Income taxes

13The Company recorded an income tax provision from continuing operations at an effective tax rate of 36.3% in

2004 compared with an income tax benefit from continuing operations at an effective tax rate of 37.3% in 2003.

The change in rate from 2003 to 2004 was mainly the result of the settlement of several state income tax audits

in 2004.

Fiscal year 2003 compared with fiscal year 2002

Net sales and operating income

Increase
Fiscal Fiscal (Decrease)

(Dollars in Thousands) 2003 2002 $ %

Net Sales $1,171,631 $1,294,322 $(122,691) (9.5)%

Cost of Goods Sold 1,022,378 1,123,839 (101,461) (9.0)%

Gross Margin 149,253 170,483 (21,230) (12.5)%

Gross Margin Percentage 12.7% 13.2%

Operating Expenses

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 135,899 154,682 (18,783) (12.1)%

Restructuring Charges 20,697 473 20,224 4,275.7%

Operating Income (Loss) $ (7,343) $ 15,328 $ (22,671)

Operating Income (Loss) Percentage (0.6)% 1.2%

Net sales

The 9.5% decrease in net sales was the result of declining general economic conditions and the depressed

levels of corporate capital spending, as well as the decision to discontinue certain products and customer

relationships that did not fit the Company’s long term strategic plan. Overall sales were impacted by customers’



taking advantage of price reductions and promotions offered by manufacturers, as well as taking longer to

evaluate purchasing decisions and deferring additional capital investments.

Gross margin

The 12.5% decrease in gross margin was predominantly due to a change in sales mix. Sales to resellers increased

by approximately 9.3%, while sales to commercial end-users decreased by approximately 24% during 2003.

Selling, general and administrative expenses

The 12.1% decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses resulted primarily from the elimination of

goodwill amortization under SFAS No. 142 combined with lower bad debt expense in 2003. In addition, the effects

of the restructurings announced in the fourth quarters of 2003 and 2002 and the initiatives to reduce discretion-

ary spending contributed to the decline in operating expenses.

Restructuring charges

The significant increase in restructuring charges was the result of the sale of the Industrial Electronics Division,

whereby the Company restructured its remaining business and facilities to reduce overhead and eliminate assets

that were inconsistent with the Company’s strategic plan and were no longer required. As a result of this

transaction, the Company recorded restructuring charges totaling $20.7 million.

The restructuring charges include $5.9 million for severance, incentives and other employee benefit costs,

including $2.9 million accrued for payments that are to be made pursuant to certain tax ‘‘gross up’’ provisions of

the restricted stock award agreements that were granted to certain officers on February 28, 2003, and severance

and other employee benefit costs to be paid to approximately 110 personnel; $6.1 million for a vacant warehouse

that represents excess capacity as a result of the sale; and $8.7 million for the write-down to fair value of assets

that were abandoned as part of the Corporate restructuring since they were inconsistent with the Company’s

ongoing strategic plan. The Company estimated annual pre-tax cost savings beginning in 2004 of approximately

$9.5 million as a result of this restructuring. These estimates of future costs and benefits are subject to change

during the final execution of the restructuring plan, as actual sublease factors and benefit costs could differ from

those estimated.
14 Payments for the aforementioned obligations will be funded out of working capital. The majority of these

expenditures will be paid out in cash during 2004, with the exception of lease payments, which could extend

through 2017.

In 2002, management committed to a restructuring plan for certain Corporate and enterprise computer

system operations. As a result of this action, the Company recognized restructuring charges totaling approxi-

mately $1.5 million, of which $1.0 million is included in 2002 ‘‘Cost of Goods Sold’’ and $0.5 million is classified

in the 2002 Consolidated Statement of Operations as ‘‘Restructuring Charges.’’ The restructuring charges of

$0.5 million relate to severance and other employee benefits that were paid to approximately 20 personnel. As of

March 31, 2003, this amount had been fully paid. In addition to costs associated with personnel reductions, the

restructuring charges included provisions related to inventory valuation adjustments.

Other income and expense

Favorable
Fiscal Fiscal (Unfavorable)

(Dollars in Thousands) 2003 2002 $

Other (Income) Expense

Other Income, net $ (966) $ (873) $ 93

Investment Impairment 14,600 — (14,600)

Interest Expense, net 9,343 11,257 1,914

Loss on Retirement of Debt 1,164 — (1,164)

Total Other (Income) Expense, net $24,141 $10,384 $(13,757)

Other Income, net in 2003 primarily consisted of $1.7 million of equity and dividend income earned from the

Company’s investments in affiliates, partially offset by foreign currency exchange losses. Other Income, net in

2002 consisted of $1.8 million of equity and dividend income earned from the Company’s investments in

affiliates, combined with foreign currency exchange gains and other income. This income was partially offset by a

$1.0 million charge associated with ineffectiveness of the Company’s previously held interest rate swap. In 



2002, the Company wrote off a $0.8 million investment in a privately held start-up company, which ceased

business operations.

The investment impairment in 2003 represents a non-cash charge of $14.6 million to reduce the carrying

value of the Company’s investment in Eurodis Electron PLC (‘‘Eurodis’’) to market value as of March 31, 2003. As

a result of the Company’s sale of IED and subsequent change in business focus, Agilysys’ intent concerning this

investment changed. The investment no longer held strategic value and it was not the Company’s intent to retain

the investment for a long period of time. Therefore, the decline in market value was deemed to be other than

temporary and the Company recognized a charge in operations.

Interest Expense, net decreased $1.9 million in 2003 compared with 2002 as a result of reduced outstand-

ing borrowings on the Company’s debt facilities.

The Loss on Retirement of Debt of $1.2 million in 2003 relates to the premium paid, as well as the expensing

of other deferred financing fees associated with the Company’s tender offer in March 2003 for its 9.5% Senior

Notes. The Company received valid tenders for and repurchased Senior Notes approximating $19.0 million.

Income taxes

The Company recorded an income tax benefit from continuing operations at an effective tax rate of 37.3% in 2003

compared with an income tax provision at an effective rate of 32.7% in 2002. The change in rate from 2002 to

2003 was primarily the result of a reversal of deferred tax asset valuation allowances in 2003 pertaining to capital

loss carryforwards and foreign deferred tax assets.

Discontinued operations

On February 28, 2003, the Company completed the sale of substantially all of the assets and liabilities of IED. In

addition, as of the sale date, the Company announced its strategic transformation to focus solely on its enterprise

computer systems business. Cash proceeds from the sale of IED were $240 million, with the majority of the sale

proceeds collected in 2003. The assets sold consisted primarily of accounts receivable and inventories and the

Company’s shares of common stock in World Peace Industrial Co. Ltd, (‘‘WPI’’), an Asian distributor of electronic

components. The buyer also assumed certain liabilities.

In December 2001, the Company acquired a majority interest in Aprisa, an Internet-based start-up corpora-
15tion, which created customized software for the electronic components market. As a result of the IED sale and the

Company’s subsequent decision to become solely an enterprise computer systems business, Aprisa ceased to

provide strategic value to the Company and the operations were discontinued.

For the years ended March 31, 2004 and 2003, (Loss) Income from Discontinued Operations was comprised

of the following:

Year Ended March 31
(Dollars in Thousands) 2004 2003

(Loss) gain on sale of net assets $ (298) $58,047

Transaction costs — (4,527)

Net gain on sale $ (298) $53,520

Restructuring charges

Severance costs — (5,913)

Facilities (1,075) (5,028)

Asset impairment (1,825) (17,435)

Other — (274)

Total restructuring charges (2,900) (28,650)

Facilities maintenance costs (2,383) —

(Loss) income before taxes of IED and Aprisa — 3,197

(Loss) income from discontinued operations, before tax of

$2.7 million and $9.3 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively $(5,581) $28,067

Severance costs relate to the compensation and other employee benefit costs paid to approximately 525

employees previously employed by IED and not re-hired by the purchaser. Facilities costs represent the present value

of qualifying exit costs, offset by an estimate for future sublease income, for approximately 30 vacated locations no



longer required as a result of the sale. The asset impairment charge represents the write-down to fair value of assets

that were abandoned or classified as ‘‘held-for-sale,’’ as a result of the disposition and discontinuance of IED and

Aprisa, respectively. This write-down was for assets that were not included in the IED sale transaction.

Payments for the aforementioned obligations were funded out of the proceeds from the sale and normal

working capital. The majority of these expenditures were paid out in cash during 2004, with the exception of lease

payments, which could extend through 2010.

In 2002, management committed to a restructuring plan for certain IED operations. As a result of this action,

the Company recognized restructuring charges totaling approximately $10.9 million, pre-tax. The restructuring

charges consisted of approximately $3.3 million for qualifying exit costs for one service center and eleven regional

office facilities with leases expiring through 2006 and severance and other employee benefits to be paid to

approximately 80 personnel. In addition, the restructuring charges included provisions related to inventory

valuation adjustments of $7.6 million for excess and obsolete inventory primarily associated with the Company’s

decision, as part of the restructuring plan, to close its Electronics Manufacturing Resources and Services facility

and to terminate certain supplier and customer relationships. The majority of the severance costs were paid out

by March 31, 2003.

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — goodwill

On April 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142, ‘‘Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.’’ SFAS No. 142

addresses the accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets after an acquisition. Goodwill and other

intangibles that have indefinite lives are no longer amortized, but are subject to annual impairment tests. All other

intangible assets continue to be amortized over their estimated useful lives. Effective April 1, 2002, the Company

discontinued amortization of its goodwill in accordance with SFAS No. 142.

Under the required transitional provisions of SFAS No. 142, the Company identified and evaluated its

reporting units for impairment as of April 1, 2002, the first day of the Company’s fiscal year 2003, using a two-

step process. The first step involved identifying the reporting units with carrying values, including goodwill, in

excess of fair value. The fair value of goodwill was estimated using a combination of a discounted cash flow

valuation model, incorporating a discount rate commensurate with the risks involved for each reporting unit, and a

market approach of guideline companies in similar transactions. As a result of completing the first step of the
16 process, it was determined that there was an impairment of goodwill at the date of adoption. This was due

primarily to market conditions and relatively low levels of sales. In the second step of the process, the implied fair

value of the affected reporting unit’s goodwill was compared with its carrying value in order to determine the

amount of impairment, that is, the amount by which the carrying amount exceeded the fair value. As a result, the

Company recorded an impairment charge of $36.7 million, before tax, which was recorded as a cumulative effect

of change in accounting principle in the first quarter of 2003 and is reflected in the accompanying Consolidated

Statement of Operations for the year ended March 31, 2003. The goodwill impairment was comprised of

$25.6 million for the Industrial Electronics Division and $11.0 million for the operations of Aprisa which were sold

and discontinued, respectively, in the fourth quarter of 2003. As reflected in the accompanying Consolidated

Statement of Cash Flows for 2003 the charge resulting from the cumulative effect of change in accounting

principle did not impact cash flow.

Liquidity and capital resources

Increase
Fiscal Fiscal (Decrease)

(Dollars in Thousands) 2004 2003 $

Net cash (used in) provided by continuing operations:

Operating activities $ (21,962) $ 63,326 $ (85,288)

Investing activities (52,118) 219,634 (271,752)

Financing activities (100,041) (50,794) (49,247)

Cash flows (used in) provided by continuing operations (174,121) 232,166 (406,287)

Net cash provided by discontinued operations 5,481 64,977 (59,496)

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents $(168,640) $297,143 $(465,783)



Cash and cash flows

Operating Activities — Fiscal 2004 net cash used for operating activities totaled $22.0 million, a decrease of

$85.3 million from 2003 cash provided by operating activities of $63.3 million. The following table shows the

changes in working capital year-over-year:

Source
Fiscal Fiscal (Use)
2004 2003 $

Current assets, excluding cash and discontinued assets $358,997 $225,974 $(133,023)

Current liabilities, excluding discontinued operations 247,162 163,303 83,859

The increase in current assets, excluding cash and discontinued assets, is largely due to the 72.9% increase

in accounts receivable compared to prior year. Excluding the effects from business acquisitions, the increase in

accounts receivable was 55.0%, as presented in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. The significant

increase in accounts receivable relates primarily to the increase in fourth quarter sales volume of 42.1%

compared with last year. In addition, the Company recognized a slight decline in customer payment patterns during

the year, which steadily improved throughout the year. Management believes that the improving trend will

continue, and combined with the Company’s focused initiatives, accounts receivable turnover will return to

historical levels, thus resulting in positive cash flows from operations in fiscal 2005.

The increase in current liabilities, excluding discontinued operations, is largely due to the 49.5% increase in

accounts payable compared to prior year. Excluding the effects from business acquisitions, the increase in

accounts payable was 32.0%. The increase in accounts payable is the result of the Company’s increased sales

and operations compared to prior year.

Investing Activities — Net cash used for investing activities was $52.1 million for 2004, compared to net

cash provided by investing activities of $219.6 million for 2003. On September 30, 2003, the Company acquired

Kyrus for $28.7 million (net of cash acquired). The Company acquired IAD for $36.5 million on February 18, 2004.

These investing activities were offset by additional cash proceeds received of $12.7 million for the final proceeds

from the sale of IED and $3.3 million of cash received from the sale of the Company’s investment in Eurodis,

which had an adjusted cost basis of $2.4 million at March 31, 2003. Capital expenditures were $1.6 million in

2004, consisting primarily of projects designed to improve efficiencies through IT enhancements. 17
Net cash provided by investing activities of $219.6 million for the year ending March 31, 2003 was primarily

comprised of the initial proceeds of $226.6 million from the sale of IED in February 2003, offset by cash used for

capital expenditures of $8.4 million.

Prior to February 2003, the Company held publicly traded equity securities in Eurodis and WPI as strategic

investments. The Company’s shares of WPI stock were included in the sale of IED. The Company realized a

$1.0 million loss on the sale of this investment, as unrealized losses that had been previously recorded in

‘‘Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss’’ on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets were removed

from Shareholders’ Equity and charged to operations. The loss was included in the gain on sale of net assets

within ‘‘Income from Discontinued Operations’’ on the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations for

the year ended March 31, 2003.

As of March 31, 2003, the market value of Agilysys’ investment in Eurodis was $2.4 million, as compared

with a cost basis of approximately $17.0 million. In 2003, as a result of the Company’s sale of IED and

subsequent change in business focus, Agilysys changed its intent relative to this investment. The investment no

longer held strategic value and the Company no longer intended to hold it for an extended period of time.

Therefore, the decline in market value was deemed to be other than temporary and the Company recognized a

$14.6 million impairment charge to reduce the carrying value to market value. This non-cash charge is included as

‘‘Investment impairment’’ in ‘‘Other (Income) Expense’’ in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Opera-

tions for the year ended March 31, 2003.

Financing Activities — Net cash used for financing activities was $100.0 million for the year ending March 31,

2004, versus $50.8 million for the comparable period of the prior year. Cash used for financing activities during

2004 included the repurchase of $71.6 million of 9.5% Senior Notes due August 2006 for a cash purchase price

of $79.8 million and the repurchase of 365,000 Convertible Trust Preferred Securities approximating $18.3 mil-

lion face value, for a purchase price of approximately $17.0 million. The premium paid on the 9.5% Senior Notes,

as well as the expensing of other deferred financing fees, resulted in a charge of $8.5 million in 2004. The

difference between the face value and cash paid for the Convertible Trust Preferred Securities, offset by the write-

off of deferred financing fees, resulted in a net gain of $0.7 million. Net cash used for financing activities for the



year ending March 31, 2003 was $51.1 million, the majority of which represents the repayment of borrowings

under the Company’s accounts receivable securitization with cash generated from working capital and lower

working capital needs.

In October 2001, the Company completed a three-year Accounts Receivable Securitization financing (the

‘‘Asset Securitization’’) that provided for borrowings up to $150 million, limited to certain borrowing base

calculations, and was secured by certain trade accounts receivable. Under the terms of this agreement, the

Company transferred receivables to a wholly-owned, consolidated subsidiary that in turn utilized the receivables to

secure the borrowings, which were funded through a vehicle that issues commercial paper in the short-term

market. The yield on the commercial paper, which is the commercial paper rate plus program fees, is considered a

financing cost and included in ‘‘Interest Expense, net’’ in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The

Company had not used this facility since April 2002. In February 2003, the Company canceled the Asset

Securitization, based on the Company’s strong liquidity position and low anticipated borrowing needs. There were

no advances outstanding under the facility as of the cancellation date.

During fiscal 2001, the Company entered into a Revolving Credit Agreement (the ‘‘2001 Revolver’’) with a

group of commercial banks, which provided the Company the ability to borrow, on an unsecured basis, up to

$100 million, limited to certain borrowing base calculations. This agreement was scheduled to expire in Septem-

ber 2004. On December 20, 2002, in connection with the pending sales of IED, the 2001 Revolver was amended

to reduce the Company’s ability to borrow to $50 million, limited to certain borrowing base calculations, and

accelerate the expiration date to June 2003. The Company had not used the facility since April 2002. On

March 21, 2003, the Company terminated this agreement. There were no advances outstanding under the 2001

Revolver as of the termination date. As a result of the above noted terminations, there were no outstanding

financial or non-financial covenants as of March 31, 2003.

On April 17, 2003, the Company entered into an unsecured, three-year Revolving Credit Agreement (the

‘‘Revolver’’) with a consortium of six banks. The Revolver provides the Company with the ability to borrow up to

$100 million, limited to certain borrowing base calculations, and allows for increases, under certain conditions,

up to $150 million during the life of the facility. The Revolver also contains standard pricing terms and conditions

for companies with similar credit ratings, including limitations on other borrowings, investment expenditures and

the maintenance of certain financial ratios, such as leverage, fixed charge coverage and net worth, among other
18 restrictions. The Revolver advances bear interest at various levels over LIBOR, and a facility fee is required, both of

which are determined based on the Company’s leverage ratio. The Revolver does not contain a pre-payment

penalty. During Fiscal 2003, the Revolver was amended several times to substitute a quick ratio financial covenant

for the fixed charge coverage ratio and interest coverage ratio, as well as temporarily increase the letter of credit

limit to accommodate increased vendor credit terms during peak demand. At March 31, 2004, there were no

outstanding borrowings under the Revolver.

The Company is currently exposed to interest rate risk from the various floating-rate pricing mechanisms on

the Revolver. Prior to March 2003, the Company was exposed to interest rate risk primarily from floating-rate

pricing mechanisms on the 2001 Revolver and the Asset Securitization’s (the ‘‘Facilities’’) variable short-term

market interest rates. Prior to October 2002, the interest rate exposure was managed by an interest-rate swap

used to fix the interest on a portion of the 2001 Revolver. This interest swap was terminated in October 2002.

During 2003, total interest-bearing debt on the Facilities decreased by $29.0 million. The decrease primarily

represents the repayment of borrowings against the Asset Securitization with cash generated from operations due

to lower working capital needs.

In March and April 1998, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, the Pioneer-Standard Financial Trust (the

‘‘Pioneer-Standard Trust’’), issued 2,875,000 shares relating to $143.7 million of 6.76% Mandatorily Redeem-

able Convertible Trust Preferred Securities (‘‘the Trust preferred securities’’). The sole asset of the Pioneer-

Standard Trust is $148.2 million aggregate principal amount of 6.75% Junior Convertible Subordinated Deben-

tures due March 31, 2028. The Company executed a guarantee providing a full and unconditional guarantee of the

Pioneer-Standard Trust’s obligations under the Trust preferred securities. A portion of the Company’s cash flow

from operations is dedicated to servicing these aggregate obligations and is not available for other purposes.

However, the Company may cause the Pioneer-Standard Trust to delay payment of these servicing obligations for

20 consecutive quarters. During such deferral periods, distributions, to which holders of the securities are

entitled, will compound quarterly, and the Company may not declare or pay any dividends on its Common Shares.

The Company does not currently anticipate suspending these obligations. After March 31, 2004 the Trust

preferred securities are redeemable, at the option of the Company, for a redemption price of 102.7% of par

reduced annually by 0.675% to a minimum of $50 per Trust preferred security. The Trust preferred securities are

subject to mandatory redemption on March 31, 2028, at a redemption price of $50 per Trust preferred security. In



April 2003, the Company repurchased 365,000 Trust preferred securities, approximating $18.3 million face

value, for a cash purchase price of approximately $17.0 million. The Company does not currently anticipate any

further redemption of these Trust preferred securities; however, as opportunities arise the Company may

purchase certain of the Trust preferred securities on the open market.

Off-balance sheet arrangements

The Company has not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a

current or future effect on the Company’s financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or ex-

penses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

Contractual obligations

The following table provides aggregated information regarding the Company’s contractual obligations as of

March 31, 2004. These obligations have been discussed in detail either in the preceding paragraphs or notes 8,

9, and 13 to the financial statements.

Payments due by Fiscal Year More
Less than 2-3 4-5 than

Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year  Years Years 5 Years

9.5% Senior Notes $ 59,388 $ — $59,388 $ — $ —

Convertible Trust Preferred Securities 125,425 — — — 125,425

Capital Leases 419 307 112 — —

Operating Leases 47,995 8,144 11,534 8,096 20,221

Total Contractual Obligations $233,227 $8,451 $71,034 $8,096 $145,646

The Company anticipates that cash on hand, funds from current operations, the Revolver, and access to

capital markets will provide adequate funds to finance acquisitions, capital spending and working capital needs

and to service its obligations and other commitments arising during the foreseeable future.

19Risk control and effects of foreign currency and inflation

The Company extends credit based on customers’ financial condition and, generally, collateral is not required.

Credit losses are provided for in the Consolidated Financial Statements when collections are in doubt.

The Company sells internationally and enters into transactions denominated in foreign currencies. As a result,

the Company is subject to the variability that arises from exchange rate movements. In the past, the Company has

reduced its exposure to foreign currency risk through hedging. The effects of foreign currency on operating results

did not have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations for the 2004, 2003 and 2002 fiscal years.

The Company believes that inflation has had a nominal effect on its results of operations in fiscal 2004, 2003

and 2002 and does not expect inflation to be a significant factor in fiscal 2005.

Forward-looking information

Portions of this report contain current management expectations, which may constitute forward-looking informa-

tion. When used in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

and elsewhere throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the words ‘‘believes,’’ ‘‘anticipates,’’ ‘‘plans,’’

‘‘expects’’ and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements within the meaning of

Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the Private

Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements reflect management’s current opin-

ions and are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from

those stated or implied.

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as

of the date hereof. The Company undertakes no obligation to publicly revise these forward-looking statements to

reflect events or circumstances that arise after the date hereof. Risks and uncertainties include, but are not

limited to: competition, dependence on the IT market, softening in the computer network and platform market,

rapidly changing technology and inventory obsolescence, dependence on key suppliers and supplier programs,

risks and uncertainties involving acquisitions, instability in world financial markets, downward pressure on gross

margins, the ability to meet financing obligations based on the impact of previously described factors and uneven

patterns of quarterly sales.



Item 7A. Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk

The Company has assets, liabilities and cash flows in foreign currencies, primarily the Canadian dollar, creating

foreign exchange risk. Systems are in place for continuous measurement and evaluation of foreign exchange

exposures so that timely action can be taken when considered desirable. Reducing exposure to foreign currency

fluctuations is an integral part of the Company’s risk management program. Financial instruments in the form of

forward exchange contracts are employed, when deemed necessary, as one of the methods to reduce such risk.

There were no foreign currency exchange contracts held by the Company at March 31, 2004. The Company held

one forward foreign exchange contract in the amount of $2.5 million, with a maturity of 30 days, at March 31,

2002. The foreign exchange contracts utilized have had an immaterial impact on the Company’s results of

operations for the three years ended March 31, 2004.

The Company is currently exposed to interest rate risk from the various floating-rate pricing mechanisms on

the Revolver, however at March 31, 2004, there were no borrowings outstanding. Prior to March 2003, the

Company was exposed to interest rate risk primarily from floating-rate pricing mechanisms on the 2001 Revolver

and the Asset Securitization’s variable short-term market interest rates. Prior to October 2002, the interest rate

exposure was managed by an interest rate swap used to fix the interest on a portion of the 2001 Revolver and

through borrowing mainly on the Asset Securitization, with its lower market rates. The Company had entered into

an interest rate swap agreement for purposes of serving as a hedge of the Company’s variable rate 2001 Revolver

borrowings. The effect of the swap was to establish fixed rates on the variable rate debt and to reduce exposure to

interest rate fluctuations. During fiscal 2002, the Company had one interest rate swap with a notional amount of

$25 million. This interest rate swap was terminated in October 2002 for a nominal gain. Pursuant to the swap

agreement, the Company paid interest at a weighted-average fixed rate of 5.34% at March 31, 2002. The

weighted-average LIBOR rate applicable to the agreement was 1.91% at March 31, 2002.

Effective December 2001, the interest rate swap held became an ineffective hedge. In fiscal 2002, a charge

of $1.0 million was recognized when the Company reclassified $1.0 million from ‘‘Accumulated Other Comprehen-

sive Income (Loss)’’ into operations to realize the deferred loss from the previously effective interest rate hedge.

The swap agreement had an immaterial impact on the Company’s results of operations for the fiscal years ended

2003 and 2002.

20 Item 8. Financial statements and supplementary data

The information required by this item is set forth beginning at page 25 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 9. Changes in and disagreements with accountants on accounting and financial disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and procedures

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, with the participation of Company manage-

ment, have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act

Rule 13a-14 (c) and 15d-14(c)) are sufficiently effective to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by

the Company in the reports it files under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported

within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and forms, based on an evaluation of such controls

and procedures conducted within 90 days prior to the date hereof.

Changes in internal controls

There have been no significant changes in the Company’s internal controls or in other factors that could signifi-

cantly affect these controls subsequent to the date of the evaluation referred to above.

part III

Item 10. Directors and executive officers of the registrant

Information required by this Item as to the Directors of the Company appearing under the caption ‘‘Election of

Directors’’ in the Company’s Proxy Statement to be used in connection with the Company’s 2004 Annual Meeting

of Shareholders to be held on July 28, 2004 (the ‘‘2004 Proxy Statement’’) is incorporated herein by reference.

Information with respect to compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 by the



Company’s Directors, executive officers, and holders of more than five percent of the Company’s equity securities

will be set forth in the 2004 Proxy Statement under the heading ‘‘Section 16 (a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting

Compliance.’’ Information required by this Item as to the executive officers of the Company is included as Item 4A

in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K as permitted by Instruction 3 to Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K.

The Company has adopted a code of ethics that applies to the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer,

and Controller known as the Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers as well as a code of business conduct that

applies to all employees of the Company known as the Code of Business Conduct. Each of these documents are

available on the Company’s website at http://www.agilysys.com.

Item 11. Executive compensation

The information required by this Item is set forth in the Company’s 2004 Proxy Statement under the heading,

‘‘Election of Directors,’’ under the sub-heading ‘‘Information Regarding Meetings and Committees of the Board of

Directors and Compensation of Directors,’’ and under the heading ‘‘Compensation of Executive Officers’’ under

the sub-headings ‘‘Summary Compensation Table,’’ ‘‘Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year,’’ ‘‘Option Exercises in Last

Fiscal Year and Fiscal Year-End Option Values,’’ ‘‘Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan,’’ and ‘‘Employment

Agreements,’’ which information is incorporated herein by reference. The information set forth in the 2004 Proxy

Statement under the subheadings, ‘‘Shareholder Return Performance Presentation,’’ ‘‘Compensation Committee

Report on Executive Compensation,’’ and ‘‘Audit Committee Report’’ is not incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and related shareholder matters

The information required by this Item is set forth in the Company’s 2004 Proxy Statement under the heading

‘‘Share Ownership,’’ and under the heading ‘‘Compensation of Executive Officers’’ under the sub-heading ‘‘Equity

Compensation Plan Information,’’ which information is incorporated herein by reference.

The information required by this Item relating to securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation

plans is set forth in the Company’s 2004 Proxy Statement under the heading, ‘‘Compensation of Executive

Officers’’ under the sub-heading ‘‘Equity Compensation Plan Information.’’

Item 13. Certain relationships and related transactions
21None.

Item 14. Principal accountant fees and services

The information required by this Item is set forth in the Company’s 2004 Proxy Statement under the heading

‘‘Independent Auditors,’’ which information is incorporated herein by reference.

part IV

Item 15. Exhibits, financial statement schedules and reports on Form 8-K

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

(1) and (2) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules. The following Consolidated Financial

Statements of the Company and its subsidiaries, the Financial Statement Schedule and the Report of Independent

Auditors thereon, are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K beginning on page 25:

Report of Independent Auditors

Report of Management

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended March 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2004 and 2003

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended March 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended March 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the years ended March 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

All other schedules have been omitted since the required information is not present or not present in

amounts sufficient to require submission of the schedule, or because the information required is included in the

Consolidated Financial Statements or the notes thereto.

(3) Listing of Exhibits

See the Index to Exhibits beginning at page 55 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.



(b) Reports on Form 8-K filed in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004

Date Item # Subject

January 16, 2004 Item 9 Press release announcing an update to the Company’s

previously issued fiscal 2004 full-year guidance. (Furnished)

February 2, 2004 Items 12 and 7 Press release announcing the Company’s fiscal 2004 third-

quarter results. (Filed)

February 2, 2004 Items 5 and 7 Press release announcing that the Company had signed a

definitive agreement to acquire Inter-American Data, Inc. (Filed)

February 19, 2004 Items 5 and 7 Press release announcing the Company’s acquisition of

Inter-American Data, Inc. (Filed)
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signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Agilysys, Inc. has

duly caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly

authorized, in the City of Cleveland, State of Ohio, on June 11, 2004.

AGILYSYS, INC.

By: /s/ ARTHUR RHEIN

Arthur Rhein

Chairman, President, Chief Executive

Officer and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by

the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities as of June 11, 2004.

Signature Title

/s/ ARTHUR RHEIN Chairman, President, Chief Executive Officer and

Director (Principal Executive Officer)Arthur Rhein

/s/ STEVEN M. BILLICK Executive Vice President, Treasurer and Chief

Financial Officer (Principal Financial andSteven M. Billick
Accounting Officer)

/s/ JAMES L. BAYMAN Director
23

James L. Bayman

/s/ CHARLES F. CHRIST Director

Charles F. Christ

/s/ THOMAS A. COMMES Director

Thomas A. Commes

/s/ HOWARD V. KNICELY Director

Howard V. Knicely

/s/ KEITH M. KOLERUS Director

Keith M. Kolerus

/s/ ROBERT A. LAUER Director

Robert A. Lauer

/s/ ROBERT G. MCCREARY, III Director

Robert G. McCreary, III

/s/ THOMAS C. SULLIVAN Director

Thomas C. Sullivan



AGILYSYS, INC.

ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

Year Ended March 31, 2004

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Page

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ***************************************** 25

Report of Management************************************************************************ 26

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended March 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 ******** 27

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2004 and 2003 ************************************ 28

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended March 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 29

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended March 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002******** 30

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ***************************************************** 31

Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the years ended March 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 54

24



report of independent registered public accounting firm

Shareholders and the Board of Directors of
Agilysys, Inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets of Agilysys, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of

March 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related Consolidated Statements of Operations, Shareholders’ Equity and

Cash Flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2004. Our audits also included the financial

statement schedule listed in the index at Item 15(a). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibil-

ity of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and

schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test

basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating

the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consoli-

dated financial position of Agilysys, Inc. and Subsidiaries at March 31, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated

results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2004, in

conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement

schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all

material respects the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 1 and Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, in 2003, Agilysys, Inc. and Subsidiaries

changed its method of accounting for losses on early extinguishments of debt and for goodwill, respectively.

/S/ ERNST AND YOUNG LLP
25

Cleveland, Ohio

May 11, 2004



report of management

The consolidated financial statements of Agilysys, Inc. have been prepared by the Company, which is

responsible for their integrity and objectivity. These statements have been prepared in accordance with

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and include amounts that are based on informed judgments and

estimates. The Company also prepared the other information in the annual report and is responsible for its

accuracy and consistency with the consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s ethics policy, communicated throughout the organization, requires adherence to high ethical

standards in the conduct of the Company’s business.

The Company’s system of internal controls is designed to provide reasonable assurance that Company

assets are safeguarded from loss or unauthorized use or disposition and that transactions are executed in

accordance with management’s authorization and are properly recorded. In establishing the basis for reasonable

assurance, management balances the costs of the internal controls with the benefits they provide. The system

contains self-monitoring mechanisms, and compliance is tested through an extensive program of site visits and

audits by the Company’s internal auditors.

The Company’s independent auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, audited the consolidated financial statements in

accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). These stan-

dards include obtaining an understanding of internal controls sufficient to plan the audit and to determine the

nature, timing and extent of testing performed.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, consisting of independent directors, meets regularly with the

Company’s management, internal auditors and independent auditors and reviews audit plans and results, as well

as management’s actions taken in discharging its responsibilities for accounting, financial reporting, and internal

controls. Members of management, the internal auditors, and the independent auditors have direct and confiden-

tial access to the Audit Committee at all times.

26 /s/ ARTHUR RHEIN

Arthur Rhein

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ STEVEN M. BILLICK

Steven M. Billick

Executive Vice President, Treasurer and

 Chief Financial Officer



consolidated statements of operations
Agilysys, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Year Ended March 31

(Dollars In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Data) 2004 2003 2002

Net Sales $ 1,403,216 $ 1,171,631 $ 1,294,322

Cost of Goods Sold 1,222,314 1,022,378 1,123,839

Gross margin 180,902 149,253 170,483
Operating Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses 141,868 135,899 154,682
Restructuring charges 2,516 20,697 473

Operating Income (Loss) 36,518 (7,343) 15,328
Other (Income) Expense

Other income, net (6,687) (966) (873)
Investment impairment — 14,600 —
Interest expense, net 8,636 9,343 11,257
Loss on retirement of debt 7,861 1,164 —

Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes 26,708 (31,484) 4,944
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 9,684 (11,739) 1,618

17,024 (19,745) 3,326
Distributions on Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust

Preferred Securities, net of tax 5,500 6,315 6,237

Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations $ 11,524 $ (26,060) $ (2,911)
(Loss) Income from Discontinued Operations, net of taxes (See

Note 4) (2,861) 18,777 (4,136)

Income (Loss) Before Cumulative Effect of Change in
27Accounting Principle $ 8,663 $ (7,283) $ (7,047)

Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle, net of
$1,900 Tax Benefit — (34,795) —

Net Income (Loss) $ 8,663 $ (42,078) $ (7,047)

Earnings per Share — Basic
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations $ 0.42 $ (0.96) $ (0.11)
(Loss) Income from Discontinued Operations (0.10) 0.69 (0.15)

Income (Loss) Before Cumulative Effect of Change in
Accounting Principle $ 0.32 $ (0.27) $ (0.26)

Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle — (1.27) —

Net Income (Loss) $ 0.32 $ (1.54) $ (0.26)

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding — Basic 27,743,769 27,291,683 27,040,171

Earnings per Share — Diluted
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations $ 0.41 $ (0.96) $ (0.11)
(Loss) Income from Discontinued Operations (0.10) 0.69 (0.15)

Income (Loss) Before Cumulative Effect of Change in
Accounting Principle $ 0.31 $ (0.27) $ (0.26)

Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle — (1.27) —

Net Income (Loss) $ 0.31 $ (1.54) $ (0.26)

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding — Diluted 27,955,865 27,291,683 27,040,171

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



consolidated balance sheets
Agilysys, Inc. and Subsidiaries

March 31

(Dollars In Thousands) 2004 2003

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $149,903 $318,543
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $3,829 in 2004 and $2,969 in 2003 295,272 170,708
Inventories, net 52,236 48,285
Deferred income taxes 9,255 6,244
Prepaid expenses 2,234 737
Assets of discontinued operations 5,451 43,367

Total Current Assets 514,351 587,884
Investments and Other Assets

Goodwill 179,975 117,545
Investments in affiliated companies 18,819 19,592
Other assets 11,396 10,625

Property and Equipment, at Cost
Land 480 480
Buildings 5,542 5,542
Furniture and equipment 56,486 54,825
Software 31,845 29,952
Leasehold improvements 14,551 14,507

108,904 105,306
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 73,783 67,069

Property and Equipment, net 35,121 38,237

Total Assets $759,662 $773,883

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
28 Current Liabilities

Accounts payable $208,115 $139,185
Accrued liabilities 39,047 24,118
Liabilities of discontinued operations 4,006 20,910

Total Current Liabilities 251,168 184,213
Long-Term Debt 59,503 130,995
Deferred Income Taxes 4,426 7,000
Other Long-Term Liabilities 10,150 9,450
Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust Preferred Securities 125,425 143,675

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Serial preferred shares, without par value; authorized 5,000,000; issued and

outstanding — none — —
Common shares, without par value, at $0.30 stated value: authorized

80,000,000 shares; 32,115,614 and 32,056,950 shares outstanding in 2004
and 2003, respectively, including 3,589,940, subscribed-for shares in 2004 and
2003 and 53,273 shares in treasury in 2004 9,553 9,535

Capital in excess of stated value 126,070 113,655
Retained earnings 219,594 214,448
Unearned employee benefits (42,325) (30,299)
Unearned compensation on restricted stock (2,499) (4,575)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,403) (4,214)

Total Shareholders’ Equity 308,990 298,550

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $759,662 $773,883

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity
Agilysys, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Stated Capital in Unearned Accumulated
value of excess of Unearned compensation other

Common common stated Retained employee on restricted comprehensive
(Dollars and Shares in Thousands) shares shares value earnings benefits stock income (loss) Total

Balance at April 1, 2001 31,668 $9,419 $125,595 $270,246 $ (49,688) $ (5,280) $ 3,965 $354,257
Net loss — — — (7,047) — — — (7,047)
Cumulative effect of change in

accounting for derivatives and
hedging, net of $0.1 million tax
benefit — — — — — — (218) (218)

Current period cash flow hedging
activity, net of $0.6 million tax
benefit — — — — — — (889) (889)

Reclassification of hedging activity
into earnings, net of $0.7 million
tax — — — — — — 1,107 1,107

Unrealized translation adjustment — — — — — — (1,188) (1,188)
Unrealized loss on securities, net

of $3.8 million tax benefit — — — — — — (5,936) (5,936)

Total comprehensive loss — — — — — — $ (14,171)

Shares transferred from trust — — (149) — 1,268 — — 1,119
Value change in subscribed-for

shares — — 7,695 — (7,695) — — —
Cash dividends ($0.12 per share) — — — (3,323) — — — (3,323)
Shares issued upon exercise of

stock options 109 32 543 — — — — 575
Tax benefit related to exercise of

stock options — — 174 — — — — 174
Converted Trust preferred

securities 5 1 74 — — — — 75
Amortization of unearned

compensation — — — — — 1,991 — 1,991

Balance at March 31, 2002 31,782 9,452 133,932 259,876 (56,115) (3,289) (3,159) 340,697
Net loss — — — (42,078) — — — (42,078)
Unrealized translation adjustment — — — — — — (100) (100)
Unrealized loss on securities, net

of $6.1 million tax benefit — — — — — — (10,968) (10,968) 29
Reclassification of unrealized

losses into earnings, net of $5.4
million tax — — — — — — 10,013 10,013

Total comprehensive loss — — — — — — $ (43,133)

Shares transferred from trust (376) (113) (3,085) — 3,198 — — —
Value change in subscribed-for

shares — — (22,618) — 22,618 — — —
Cash dividends ($0.12 per share) — — — (3,350) — — — (3,350)
Shares issued upon exercise of

stock options 275 83 2,068 — — — — 2,151
Tax benefit related to exercise of

stock options — — 273 — — — — 273
Restricted stock awards 376 113 3,085 — — (3,198) — —
Amortization of unearned

compensation — — — — — 1,912 — 1,912

Balance at March 31, 2003 32,057 9,535 113,655 214,448 (30,299) (4,575) (4,214) 298,550
Net income — — — 8,663 — — — 8,663
Unrealized translation adjustment — — — — — — 2,811 2,811
Unrealized gain on securities, net

of $1.0 million tax expense 1,894 1,894
Reclassification of unrealized gains

into earnings, net of $1.0 million
tax — — — — — — (1,894) (1,894)

Total comprehensive income — — — — — — $ 11,474

Value change in subscribed-for
shares — — 12,026 — (12,026) — — —

Cash dividends ($0.12 per share) — — — (3,517) — — — (3,517)
Shares issued upon exercise of

stock options 112 34 835 — — — — 869
Tax benefit related to exercise of

stock options — — 18 — — — — 18
Repurchase of Common Stock (53) (16) (464) — — — — (480)
Amortization of unearned

compensation — — — — — 2,076 — 2,076

Balance at March 31, 2004 32,116 $9,553 $126,070 $219,594 $ (42,325) $ (2,499) $ (1,403) $308,990

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



consolidated statements of cash flows
Agilysys, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Year Ended March 31
(Dollars in Thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net income (loss) $ 8,663 $ (42,078) $ (7,047)
Loss (income) from discontinued operation 2,861 (18,777) 4,136
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — 34,795 —

Income (loss) from continuing operations 11,524 (26,060) (2,911)
Adjustments to reconcile income (loss) from continuing operations to

net cash (used by) provided by operating activities (net of effects
from business acquisitions)

Investment impairment — 14,600 750
Gain on sale of property and equipment (59) — —
Gain on sale of marketable securities (906) — —
Gain on purchase of Convertible Preferred Securities (734) — —
Loss on buyback of Senior Notes 8,595 1,788 —
Depreciation 4,617 8,829 8,426
Amortization 5,329 7,994 15,279
Deferred income taxes 284 (5,545) (1,115)
Changes in working capital, excluding effect of discontinued

operations
Accounts receivable (93,895) 37,036 52,142
Inventories 2,762 25,860 40,156
Accounts payable 44,526 1,941 (8,096)
Accrued liabilities (4,163) (6,098) 2,619
Other working capital (515) 1,607 (557)

Other 673 1,374 935

Total adjustments (33,486) 89,386 110,539

Net cash (used by) provided by operating activities (21,962) 63,326 107,628
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:

30 Additions to property and equipment (1,555) (8,404) (5,837)
Proceeds from sale of Industrial Electronics Division 12,670 226,649 —
Acquisition of businesses, less cash acquired (66,653)
Investments in affiliated companies — — (951)
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities 3,309 — —
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 111 1,389 —

Net cash (used for) provided by investing activities (52,118) 219,634 (6,788)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Revolving credit borrowings — 7,780 664,950
Revolving credit payments — (7,780) (905,890)
Accounts receivable securitization financing borrowings — 17,600 248,290
Accounts receivable securitization financing payments — (46,600) (219,290)
Buyback of 9.5% Senior Notes (79,800) (19,942) —
Buyback of convertible preferred securities (16,973) — —
Principal payments under long-term obligations (140) (22) (189)
Debt financing costs paid — (631) (666)
Issuance of common shares under company stock option plan 869 2,151 575
Repurchase of common stock (480) — —
Dividends paid (3,517) (3,350) (3,323)

Net cash used for financing activities (100,041) (50,794) (215,543)
Cash flows (used for) provided by continuing operations (174,121) 232,166 (114,703)
Cash flows provided by discontinued operations 5,481 64,977 94,722

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (168,640) 297,143 (19,981)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 318,543 21,400 41,381

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 149,903 $318,543 $ 21,400

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash payments for interest $ 19,659 $ 15,145 $ 22,975
Cash payments for income taxes $ 2,658 $ 3,614 $ 2,392
Distributions on Convertible Trust Preferred Securities $ 8,466 $ 12,123 $ 9,703
Change in value of available-for-sale securities, net of tax $ — $ (955) $ (5,936)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



notes to consolidated financial statements
Agilysys, Inc. and Subsidiaries

1
OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Operations — Agilysys, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the ‘‘Company’’ or ‘‘Agilysys’’) distributes and resells a

broad range of enterprise computer systems products, including servers, storage, software and services. These

products are sold to resellers and commercial end-users. The Company has operations in North America and

strategic investments in the United States and Europe.

The Company’s fiscal year ends on March 31. References to a particular year refer to the fiscal year ending in

March of that year. For example, 2004 refers to the year ended March 31, 2004.

Principles of Consolidation — The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company

and its subsidiaries. Investments in affiliated companies in which the Company does not have control, but has the

ability to exercise significant influence over operating and financial policies are accounted for using the equity

method. Other investments are accounted for using the cost method. All inter-company transactions and accounts

have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These estimates and

assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the

reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported periods. Actual results could differ from those

estimates.

Revenue Recognition — The Company derives revenue from three primary sources: hardware (servers and

storage), software, and services. In general, revenue is recognized when it is realized or realizable and earned.

The Company considers revenue realized or realizable and earned when it has persuasive evidence of an

arrangement, the product has been shipped or services have been provided to the customer, the sales price is

fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. The Company reduces revenue for discounts, sales 31

incentives, estimated customer returns and other allowances. The Company offers discounts based on the

volume of products and services purchased. Shipping and handling fees billed to customers are recognized as

revenue and the related costs are recognized in ‘‘Costs of Goods Sold’’ in the accompanying consolidated

statement of operations. In addition to this general policy, the following are the specific revenue recognition

policies for each category of revenue.

Hardware

Revenue of hardware sales is recognized generally when the product is shipped to the customer and when there

are no unfulfilled obligations that affect the customer’s final acceptance of the arrangement.

The Company’s hardware, software, and services are predominantly sold on a stand alone basis. In limited

occurrences, sales with multiple products and/or services are offered to customers. When elements of hardware,

software, and services are contained in a single arrangement, the Company allocates revenue to each element

based on its relative fair value, provided that such elements meet the criteria for treatment as a separate unit of

accounting in accordance with EITF 00-21, ‘‘Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.’’ If the criteria for

separate unit of accounting are not met, revenue is deferred until such criteria are met or until the period(s) over

which the last undelivered element is delivered.

A portion of the Company’s business involves shipment directly from its suppliers to its customers. In these

transactions, the Company is responsible for negotiating price both with the supplier and customer, payment to

the supplier, establishing payment terms with the customer, product returns, and has risk of loss if the customer

does not make payment. As the principal with the customer, the Company recognizes revenue when the Company

is notified by the supplier that the product has been shipped.

Software

Revenue of software sales is recognized in accordance with AICPA Statement of Position 97-2, ‘‘Software Revenue

Recognition,’’ using the residual method. Software revenue is recognized when the software has been delivered

and installed and there are no significant obligations remaining.



Services

Revenue from service contracts is recognized as earned based on the performance requirements of the contract,

generally as the services are provided. In addition, service revenue from maintenance contracts is recognized over

the life of the contract. Unspecified upgrades and technical support relating to software sales are recognized over

the period such items are delivered. The Company does not include with the initial hardware purchase any element

of a maintenance contract. Customers may opt to separately purchase premium service coverage or extended

maintenance beyond the expiration date of the respective product’s standard warranty as offered by the maker of

the product.

The Company also facilitates the sale of certain service contracts between its suppliers and customers.

Revenue derived from such sales is recognized under the net method in accordance with EITF 99-19, ‘‘Reporting

Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as an Agent,’’ since the Company acts as an agent in the transaction.

Supplier Programs — Agilysys participates in certain programs provided by various suppliers that enable it to

earn volume incentives. These incentives are generally earned by achieving quarterly sales targets. The amounts

earned under these programs are recorded as a reduction of cost of sales when earned. In addition, the Company

receives incentives from suppliers related to cooperative advertising allowances, price protection and other

programs. These incentives generally relate to agreements with the suppliers and are recorded, when earned, as

adjustments to gross margin or net advertising expense, as appropriate. All costs associated with advertising and

promoting products are expensed in the year incurred. Cooperative reimbursements from suppliers, which are

earned and available, are recorded in the period the related advertising expenditure is incurred.

Income Taxes — Income tax expense includes U.S. and foreign income taxes and is based on reported

income before income taxes. Deferred income taxes reflect the effect of temporary differences between assets

and liabilities that are recognized for financial reporting purposes and the amounts that are recognized for income

tax purposes. These deferred taxes are measured by applying currently enacted tax laws. Valuation allowances are

recognized to reduce the deferred tax assets to an amount that is more likely than not to be realized. In

determining whether it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets will be realized, the Company considers

such factors as (a) expectations of future taxable income, (b) expectations of material changes in the present

relationship between income reported for financial and tax purposes, and (c) tax-planning strategies.

Foreign Currency — The functional currency of the Company’s foreign subsidiary is the applicable local
32 currency. For this foreign operation, the assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rates

in effect at the balance sheet dates. Statement of operation accounts are translated at the monthly average

exchange rates prevailing during the year. The gains or losses resulting from these translations are recorded as a

separate component of shareholders’ equity. Foreign currency gains and losses from changes in exchange rates

have not been material to the consolidated operating results.

Cash and cash equivalents — The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original

maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments — Estimated fair value of the Company’s financial instruments are as

follows:

2004 2003
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

(Dollars in Thousands) Amount Value Amount Value

Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 149,903 $ 149,903 $ 318,543 $ 318,543

Accounts receivable 295,272 295,272 170,708 170,708

Marketable securities — — 2,403 2,403

Liabilities:

Accounts payable 208,115 208,115 139,185 139,185

9.5% Senior Notes (59,388) (65,500) (130,963) (137,200)

Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust Preferred

Securities (125,425) (123,500) (143,675) (133,600)

The carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate

fair value due to the short term nature of these instruments. For marketable securities, fair values are estimates

based on quoted market prices, which are also used to determine the carrying amount of the Company’s

available-for-sale marketable securities.



The fair value of the Company’s 9.5% Senior Notes is estimated using rates currently available for securities

with similar terms and remaining maturities. The fair value of the Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust

Preferred Securities represents market value as determined in the over the counter market.

The Company owns capital stock of a privately held entity. There is no market for the entity’s common shares, and

it was impracticable to estimate the fair value of the Company’s investment. The investment is carried on the balance

sheet at its original cost of $5.0 million and is included under the caption ‘‘Investments in Affiliated Companies.’’

Investments in Affiliated Companies — The Company enters into certain investments for the promotion of

business and strategic objectives, and typically does not attempt to reduce or eliminate the inherent market risks

on these investments. The Company has investments in affiliates accounted for using the equity method and

equity securities accounted for using the cost method. For those investments accounted for under the equity

method, the Company’s proportionate share of income or losses from affiliated companies is recorded in ‘‘Other

(Income) Expense’’ on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The Company’s marketable equity securities are classified as ‘‘available-for-sale’’ and are carried at fair

value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, recorded in ‘‘Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss’’

included in Shareholders’ Equity. There were no marketable equity securities held by the Company at March 31,

2004. Non-marketable equity securities are carried at cost, as there are no quoted market prices available for

these securities.

As a matter of policy, management continually monitors the change in the value of its investments and

regularly reviews each investment security for impairment based on criteria that include the extent to which cost

exceeds market value; the duration of the market decline; management’s intent and ability to hold the investment;

and the financial condition of and specific prospects of the issuer. In determining whether or not impairment

exists, the Company evaluates available information such as published financial reports and market research and

analyzes cyclical trends within the industry segments in which the various companies operate. Impairment of

investment securities results in a non-cash, pre-tax charge to ‘‘Other (Income) Expense’’ if a market decline below

cost is deemed other than temporary.

Derivatives — The Company’s primary objective for holding derivative financial instruments is to manage risks

associated with fluctuations in foreign currency and interest rates. The Company did not hold any derivative financial

instruments in 2004 or 2003. It is the Company’s practice to record derivative financial instruments at fair value and
33classify them in ‘‘Other Assets’’ and ‘‘Accrued Liabilities.’’ The fair value of derivative contracts are obtained through

independent brokers. The Company’s accounting policies for such instruments are based on whether they meet the

Company’s criteria for designation as hedging transactions, either as cash flow or fair value hedges. The criteria for

designating a derivative as a hedge include the instrument’s effectiveness in risk reduction and one-to-one matching

of the derivative instrument to its underlying transaction. If the derivative is designated as a cash flow hedge, the

effective portions of changes in the fair value of the derivative are recorded in ‘‘Accumulated Other Comprehensive

Income (Loss)’’ in Shareholders’ Equity and are recognized in operations when the hedged item affects earnings.

Ineffective portions of changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges are recognized in operations. Gains and losses

on derivatives that are not designated as hedges for accounting purposes are recognized currently in operations and

generally offset changes in the values of assets and liabilities.

Foreign Currency Exchange Contracts — The Company, when deemed necessary, uses forward foreign

currency exchange contracts to partially reduce risks related to transactions denominated in foreign currencies.

These contracts are used to hedge short-term firm commitments and transactions denominated in currencies

other than the subsidiaries’ functional currency. These contracts are not designated as hedging instruments. The

gains and losses from changes in the market value of these contracts are recognized in ‘‘Other (Income)

Expense’’ and offset the foreign exchange gains and losses on the underlying transactions. There were no foreign

currency exchange contracts held by the Company at March 31, 2004 or 2003.

Interest Rate Swaps — The Company, at times, uses interest rate swap agreements to partially reduce risks

related to floating-rate financing agreements, which are subject to changes in the market rate of interest. These are

designated as cash flow hedges. The Company did not hold any interest rate swap agreements in 2004 or 2003.

Concentrations of Credit Risk — Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentra-

tions of credit risk consist principally of accounts receivable. Concentration of credit risk on accounts receivable is

mitigated by the Company’s large number of customers and their dispersion across many different industries and

geographies. The Company extends credit based on customers’ financial conditions and generally, collateral is not



required. To further reduce credit risk associated with accounts receivable, the Company also performs periodic

credit evaluations of its customers.

Concentrations of Supplier Risk — The Company sells products supplied by five primary suppliers. During

2004, 2003 and 2002, products purchased from the Company’s two largest suppliers accounted for 88%, 83%

and 85%, respectively, of the Company’s sales volume. The Company’s largest supplier, IBM, supplied 72%, 63%

and 57% of the Company’s sales volumes in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. With the acquisition of Compaq

Computer Corporation (‘‘Compaq’’) by Hewlett-Packard Company (‘‘HP’’) in May 2002, sales of products sourced

by the combined HP/Compaq entity accounted for 16%, 20% and 28% in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Inventories — Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out basis) or market, net of related

reserves. The Company’s inventory is constantly monitored to ensure appropriate valuation. Adjustments of

inventories to the lower of cost or market, if necessary, are based upon contractual provisions governing price

protection, stock rotation (right of return status), and technological obsolescence, as well as turnover and

assumptions about future demand and market conditions. Reserves for slow-moving and obsolete inventory were

$6.2 million and $4.5 million at March 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Goodwill — Goodwill represents the excess purchase price paid over the fair value of the net assets of

acquired companies. Effective April 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142, ‘‘Goodwill and Other Intangible

Assets.’’ Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite lives are no longer subject to

amortization but rather are subject to periodic impairment testing. Accordingly, the Company ceased amortization

of all goodwill upon adoption. Prior to adoption, goodwill was amortized on a straight-line basis over periods of 15

to 40 years. The Company has no identifiable intangible assets other than goodwill.

SFAS No. 142 requires that goodwill be tested for impairment upon adoption (the transition impairment test)

and at least annually, thereafter. Impairment exists when the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its fair value.

Upon adoption of SFAS No. 142, the Company performed valuations of its reporting units for transitional purposes

and, based on these valuations, concluded that goodwill was impaired. Accordingly, the Company recorded an

impairment charge of $36.7 million, before tax, which was recorded as a cumulative effect of change in account-

ing principle in 2003. The Company conducted its annual goodwill impairment test in 2004 and, based on the

analysis, concluded that goodwill was not impaired. Goodwill will also be tested as necessary if changes in

circumstances or the occurrence of certain events indicate potential impairment. Prior to adoption of
34 SFAS No. 142 in 2003, the Company regularly evaluated its goodwill for impairment, considering such factors as

historical and future profitability.

Long-Lived Assets — Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Major renewals and improvements are

capitalized, as are interest costs on capital projects. Minor replacements, maintenance, repairs and reengineering

costs are expensed as incurred. When assets are sold or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumu-

lated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is recognized in operations.

Depreciation and amortization are provided in amounts sufficient to amortize the cost of the assets, including

assets recorded under capital leases, which make up a negligible portion of total assets, over their estimated

useful lives using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives for depreciation and amortization are as

follows: buildings — 10 to 40 years; furniture — 7 to 10 years; equipment — 3 to 10 years; software — 3 to

10 years; and leasehold improvements over the applicable lease periods. Internal use software costs are

expensed or capitalized depending on the project stage. Amounts capitalized are amortized over the estimated

useful lives of the software, ranging from 3 to 10 years, beginning with the project’s completion. Total depreciation

and amortization expense on property and equipment was $7.8 million, $14.8 million and $16.9 million during

2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The Company evaluates the recoverability of its long-lived assets whenever changes in circumstances or

events may indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized in the

event the net book value of the assets exceeds the future undiscounted cash flows attributable to such assets.

Stock-Based Compensation — As permitted by SFAS No. 148, ‘‘Accounting for Stock-Based Compensa-

tion — Transition and Disclosure,’’ the Company continues to measure compensation expense for its stock-based

employee compensation plans using the intrinsic value method prescribed in Accounting Principles Board (‘‘APB’’)

Opinion No. 25, ‘‘Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,’’ whereby the options are granted at market price,

and therefore no compensation costs are recognized, and the options are not recognized in the financial state-

ments until they are exercised. However, the Company provides pro forma disclosures of net income (loss) and

net income (loss) per share as if the fair-value method had been applied. The pro forma amounts that are

disclosed in the table below reflect the portion of the estimated fair value of awards that was earned for the years

ended March 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002. The pro forma expense determined under the fair value method

presented in the table below relates only to stock options that were granted as of March 31, 2004, 2003 and



2002. Accordingly, the impact of applying the fair value method is not indicative of future amounts. Additional

grants in future years are anticipated, which will increase the pro forma compensation expense and thus reduce

and increase future pro forma net income (loss), respectively.

(In Thousands, Except Per Share Data) 2004 2003 2002

Net income (loss), as reported $ 8,663 $(42,078) $ (7,047)

Compensation expense as determined under SFAS 123, net of related tax

effects (3,564) (3,365) (4,030)

Pro forma net income (loss) $ 5,099 $(45,443) $(11,077)

Basic, as reported $ 0.32 $ (1.54) $ (0.26)

Diluted, as reported 0.31 (1.54) (0.26)

Basic, pro forma $ .19 $ (1.67) $ (0.41)

Diluted, pro forma .18 (1.67) (0.41)

The fair market value of stock option grants is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with

the following assumptions:

2004 2003 2002

Dividend yield 1.0% 1.0% 1.0%

Expected volatility 48.4% 48.4% 48.6%

Risk-free interest rate 3.33% 3.81% 5.28%

Expected life 6 years 6 years 8 years

Weighted average fair value of options granted $3.84 $6.94 $7.04

Earnings Per Share — Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) available to

common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings (loss)

per share is computed using the weighted average number of common and dilutive common equivalent shares

outstanding during the period and adjusting income available to common shareholders for the assumed conver- 35
sion of all potentially dilutive securities, as necessary. Securities or other contracts to issue common shares are

included in the per share calculations where the effect of their inclusion would be dilutive.

Comprehensive Income (Loss) — Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as net income (loss) plus the aggregate

change in shareholders’ equity, excluding changes in ownership interests, referred to as accumulated other comprehen-

sive income (loss). At March 31, 2004 and 2003, ‘‘Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss,’’ included in Sharehold-

ers’ Equity, consisted of foreign currency translation losses of $1.4 million and $4.2 million, respectively.

Segment Reporting — Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise for which separate

financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision makers in deciding how

to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The Company is a distributor and reseller of enterprise

computer systems and related products, such as storage and software, and accordingly operates in one segment.

The Company is predominantly a North American enterprise. As such, revenues and long-lived assets outside of

North America are not material to the financial position or operating results of the Company.

Recent Accounting Standards — In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, ‘‘Accounting for Asset

Retirement Obligations,’’ which addresses the financial accounting and reporting for obligations associated with

the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the related asset retirement costs. SFAS No. 143 requires that the

fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation be recorded in the period incurred and the related asset

retirement costs be capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset. The Company adopted this

Statement in the first quarter of 2004. The adoption did not have an impact on the Company’s consolidated

financial position and results of operations.

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, ‘‘Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived

Assets.’’ This Statement supersedes SFAS No. 121, ‘‘Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for

Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of’’ and the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion No. 30,

‘‘Reporting the Results of Operations — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and

Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions’’ for the disposal of a segment of a

business, as previously defined in that Opinion. Many of the provisions of SFAS No. 121 are retained; however,

SFAS No. 144 clarifies some of the implementation issues related to SFAS No. 121. SFAS No. 144 also broadens



the presentation of discontinued operations to include more disposal transactions. The Company adopted this

Statement effective April 1, 2002, as required. In accordance with this Statement, the Company measures

impairment when events or circumstances indicate an asset’s carrying value may not be recoverable. The

estimate of an asset’s fair value used in the measuring for impairment is based on the best available evidence at

the time, which may include broker quotes, values of similar transactions and/or discounting the probability-

weighted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. This statement was used as a basis for

reporting the Company’s discontinued operations and calculating the asset impairments occurring as a result of

the disposal. See further discussion of the impact of this Statement on the Company’s financial position and

results of operations in Note 4.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, ‘‘Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amend-

ment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections.’’ SFAS No. 145 requires gains and losses on

extinguishments of debt to be reclassified as income or loss from continuing operations rather than as extraordi-

nary items as previously required by SFAS No. 4, ‘‘Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt.’’ The

provisions of SFAS No. 145 related to the rescission of SFAS No. 4 are effective for fiscal years beginning after

May 15, 2002, with restatement of prior period gains and losses on the extinguishment of debt to be classified as

income or loss from continuing operations rather than as an extraordinary item as previously required. The

Company early adopted this Statement effective March 31, 2003, which did not have a material impact on the

Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, ‘‘Accounting for Exit or Disposal Activities.’’ SFAS No. 146 is

effective for exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. SFAS No. 146 requires that liabilities for

one-time termination benefits that will be incurred over future service periods should be measured at the fair value

as of the termination date and recognized over the future service period. This statement also requires that

liabilities associated with disposal activities should be recorded when incurred. These liabilities should be

adjusted for subsequent changes resulting from revisions to either the timing or amount of estimated cash flows,

discounted at the original credit-adjusted risk-free rate. Interest on the liability would be accreted and charged to

expense as an operating item. The Company adopted this Statement effective January 1, 2003 and used the

guidelines as a basis for reporting exit and disposal activities related to the Company’s discontinued operations

and restructuring. See further discussion of the impact on the Company’s financial position and results of
36 operations in Note 5.

In November 2002, the EITF reached consensus on Issue No. 02-16, ‘‘Accounting for Consideration Received

from a Vendor by a Customer (Including a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products).’’ Cash consideration should generally

be considered an adjustment of the prices of the vendor’s products and, therefore, characterized as a reduction of

cost of sales when recognized in the reseller’s income statement unless certain conditions apply. The Company

has historically accounted for consideration received from a vendor as a reduction of cost of sales; therefore, the

adoption of this Issue did not have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, ‘‘Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition

and Disclosure.’’ This Statement amends SFAS No. 123, ‘‘Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,’’ to provide

alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-

based employee compensation. In addition, this Statement amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123

to require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting

for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. The transition

provisions and increased disclosure requirements were effective for the year ended March 31, 2003. The

Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 148 as of March 31, 2003. The disclosure requirements of this

Statement are provided under the caption ‘‘Stock-Based Compensation’’ in Note 1.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, ‘‘Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,’’

(‘‘FIN 46’’) which provides guidance on identifying and assessing interests in variable interest entities to decide

whether to consolidate that entity. FIN 46 requires consolidation of existing unconsolidated variable interest

entities if the entities do not effectively disperse risk among parties involved. The FASB revised FIN 46 in

December 2003. The revision codified proposed modifications to the Interpretation and other decisions previously

issued through certain FASB Staff Positions. The Company was required to adopt this Interpretation (as revised) in

the fourth quarter of 2003, for any variable interest entities created subsequent to January 31, 2003 and is

required to adopt the provisions on July 1, 2003 for entities created prior to February 1, 2003. The Company does

not have any variable interest entities, and therefore the adoption of this Standard did not have an impact on the

Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In January 2003, the EITF reached consensus on Issue No. 00-21, ‘‘Revenue Arrangements with Multiple

Deliverables.’’ Issue 00-21 provides guidance for determining the units of accounting in arrangements that



include multiple products, services, and/or rights to use assets. The EITF reached a consensus that revenue

arrangements with multiple deliverables should be divided into separate accounting units only if the deliverables

meet certain criteria (not disclosed herein). Consideration received by the seller (i.e., revenue) should be allocated

among the separate units of accounting based on their relative fair values. The provisions of this Issue were

effective for revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003. The adoption of

the provisions of this Issue did not have a material impact on the Company’s process for recognizing revenue.

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, ‘‘Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and

Hedging Activities.’’ This statement amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative instru-

ments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, and for hedging activities under

SFAS No. 133. SFAS No. 149 is effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003. The adoption

of this Statement did not have an impact on the Company’s results of operations or financial position.

In April 2003, the EITF reached consensus on Issue No. 01-03, ‘‘Accounting in a Purchase Business

Combination for Deferred Revenue of an Acquiree.’’ EITF 01-03 provides guidance regarding the recognition of

deferred revenue as a liability with respect to business combinations. The Task Force concluded that an acquiring

entity should recognize a liability related to a revenue arrangement of an acquired entity only if it has assumed a

legal obligation to provide goods, services, or other consideration to a customer. The amount assigned to the

liability should be based on its fair value at the date of acquisition. The Company adopted the guidance set forth in

the Issue to record deferred revenues purchased in connection with the acquisitions of Inter-American Data, Inc.

and Kyrus Corporation in fiscal 2004, which resulted in liabilities of $3.8 million and $3.5 million, respectively.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, ‘‘Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteris-

tics of both Liabilities and Equity.’’ This Statement establishes standards for how a Company classifies and

measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. It requires that a

Company classify certain financial instruments, such as instruments in the form of shares that are mandatorily

redeemable, as a liability (or an asset in some circumstances). Many of the instruments were previously classified

as equity. This Statement is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and

otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. The Company

evaluated the requirements of this Statement and concluded that the Statement does not apply to the Company’s

6.75% Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust Preferred Securities since they are convertible into the Com-
37pany’s Common Shares.

Reclassifications — Certain amounts in the prior periods’ Consolidated Financial Statements have been

reclassified to conform to the current period’s presentation.

2
NAME CHANGE

On September 12, 2003, the shareholders of Pioneer-Standard Electronics, Inc. approved an amendment to the

Company’s Amended Articles of Incorporation to change the Company’s name to Agilysys, Inc. The name change

became effective on September 15, 2003. Prior to September 16, 2003, Agilysys, Inc. traded on the National

Association of Securities Dealers and Automated Quotations (‘‘NASDAQ’’) Stock Market as Pioneer-Standard

Electronics, Inc. under the symbol ‘‘PIOS.’’ On September 16, 2003, Agilysys, Inc. began trading on the NASDAQ

Stock Market under the symbol ‘‘AGYS.’’

3
ACQUISITIONS

In accordance with SFAS No. 141, ‘‘Business Combinations,’’ the Company allocates the purchase price of

its acquisitions to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. The excess

purchase price over those fair values is recorded as goodwill. In accordance with SFAS 142, ‘‘Goodwill and Other

Intangible Assets,’’ goodwill is no longer amortized but is reviewed annually and whenever events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. The following two acquisitions were made

in 2004.



Inter-American Data

On February 17, 2004, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of Inter-American Data, Inc. (‘‘IAD’’).

The results of IAD’s operations have been included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements since that

date. IAD was a leading developer and provider of software and services to hotel casinos and major resorts in the

United States. The acquisition is expected to provide significant opportunities for profitable growth in the hospital-

ity industry. The aggregate purchase price was $36.5 million, subject to final settlement of certain working capital

adjustments, with approximately $34.4 million initially assigned to goodwill based on the estimated fair values of

the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The majority of assets acquired and liabilities assumed were current

in nature and the Company concluded that net book value best estimated their fair value. Based on final

settlement of working capital with the seller, the purchase price was increased by $1.5 million to $38.0 million,

which resulted in a proportionate increase in the amount assigned to goodwill. After taking into consideration the

final settlement of working capital as well as $0.2 million in other adjustments to the initial value assigned to

certain assets acquired, the net amount assigned to goodwill in 2004 was $35.7 million.

The Company is in the process of finalizing its assessment of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities

assumed, including whether there were any identifiable intangible assets in the transaction; thus, the allocation of

the purchase price is preliminary and subject to change. The Company anticipates completing its assessment

within 12 months of the date of acquisition.

Kyrus Corporation

On September 30, 2003, the Company acquired Kyrus Corporation (‘‘Kyrus’’). The results of Kyrus’ operations

have been included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements since that date. Kyrus was an IBM Master

Distributor and Premier Business Partner in retail sales solutions. The acquisition expands the Company’s

operations to include a wide range of services and solutions, including hardware and software products and

extensive professional services to retail customers. The purchase price was $29.6 million, offset by approxi-

mately $900,000 of cash acquired, with approximately $29 million initially assigned to goodwill based on the

estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The assets acquired and liabilities assumed

were primarily current in nature and the Company concluded that net book value as of the purchase date best

approximated their fair values. The Company was already an IBM business partner and operating under its own
38 IBM Master Distributor Agreement. Therefore, Kyrus’ IBM Master Distributor Agreement did not represent a

purchased intangible asset and was terminated.

Subsequent to the acquisition, the preliminary allocation of the purchase price was adjusted to revise the

estimated fair values of certain assets acquired and liabilities assumed. These adjustments resulted in a net

decrease to goodwill of $2.5 million. The Company is in the process of finalizing its assessment of the fair value of

assets acquired and liabilities assumed, including whether there were any identifiable intangible assets in the

transaction; thus, the allocation of the purchase price is preliminary and subject to change. The Company

anticipates completing its assessment within 12 months of the date of acquisition.

The Company has substantially completed its plans to integrate the Kyrus operations. These activities

included exiting certain Kyrus facilities and involuntary termination of certain Kyrus employees. The acquisition-

related restructuring liabilities were accounted for under EITF 95-3, ‘‘Recognition of Liabilities in Connection with a

Purchase Business Combination.’’ Accordingly, the liabilities were included in the purchase price allocation of the

cost to acquire Kyrus with $1.7 million recorded as a liability. The workforce reductions eliminated 70 operational

and administrative positions. Any changes to these estimates within the allocation period will result in an increase

or decrease to the accrued restructuring charges and a corresponding increase or decrease to goodwill. The

restructuring costs were substantially paid by the end of 2004.

4
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On February 28, 2003, the Company completed the sale of substantially all of the assets and liabilities of its

Industrial Electronics Division (‘‘IED’’), which distributed semiconductors, interconnect, passive and elec-

tromechanical components, power supplies and embedded computer products in North America and Germany. In

addition, as of the sale date, the Company announced its strategic transformation to focus solely on its enterprise

computer systems business. Cash proceeds from the sale of IED were $240 million, with $13 million collected in

2004 and $227 million collected in 2003. The assets sold consisted primarily of accounts receivable and



inventories and the Company’s shares of common stock in World Peace Industrial Co. Ltd, (‘‘WPI’’), an Asian

distributor of electronic components. The buyer also assumed certain liabilities.

As a result of the sale of the Company’s shares of WPI stock, the Company realized a $1.0 million loss on the

sale of this investment, as unrealized losses that had been previously recorded in ‘‘Accumulated Other Compre-

hensive Loss’’ on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet were charged to operations. The loss was

included in the gain on sale of net assets within ‘‘Income from Discontinued Operations’’ on the accompanying

Statement of Operations for the year ended March 31, 2003.

In December 2001, the Company acquired a majority interest in Aprisa, Inc. (‘‘Aprisa’’), an Internet-based

start-up corporation, which created customized software for the electronic components market. As a result of the

IED sale and the Company’s subsequent decision to become solely an enterprise computer systems business,

Aprisa ceased to provide strategic value to the Company and the operations were discontinued.

The disposition of IED and discontinuation of Aprisa’s operations represent a disposal of a ‘‘component of an

entity’’ as defined by SFAS No. 144. Accordingly, the Company’s consolidated financial statements and related

notes have been presented to reflect IED and Aprisa as discontinued operations for all periods.

Included in Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operations are net sales of zero, $758.4 million and $1.0 billion

for the years ended March 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. In addition, the Company has allocated

interest to discontinued operations based on net assets.

For the years ended March 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company reported a loss from discontinued

operations of $2.9 million, net of $2.7 million in income taxes, income from discontinued operations of $18.8 mil-

lion, net of $9.3 million in income taxes, and a loss from discontinued operations of $4.1 million, net of

$3.1 million in income taxes, respectively. For the year ended March 31, 2004, loss from discontinued operations

was comprised of the following:

(Dollars in Thousands)

Loss on sale of net assets $ 298

Costs associated with maintaining facilities of discontinued operations 2,383

Costs to exit facilities 1,075

Write-down of carrying amount of long-lived assets 1,825
39

Loss from discontinued operations, before income tax $5,581

The following is a summary of the net assets of IED and Aprisa at March 31, 2004 and 2003:

(Dollars in Thousands) 2004 2003

Cash $ — $ 12

Accounts receivable 518 30,515

Inventories 174 769

Other 1,286 6,384

Property and equipment, net 3,473 5,687

Assets of discontinued operations $5,451 $43,367

Accounts payable $ 67 $ 4,132

Accrued liabilities 3,939 21,995

Liabilities of discontinued operations $4,006 $26,127

Subsequent to year end, in April 2004 a distribution facility that was held for sale was sold for approximately

$2.9 million, which approximated book value.

5
RESTRUCTURING AND IMPAIRMENT CHARGES

Discontinued Operations

In connection with the sale of IED in 2003, the Company recognized a restructuring charge of $28.7 million, which

was included in Income from Discontinued Operations in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Opera-

tions. Severance costs of $5.9 million relate to the severance and other employee benefit costs to be paid to



approximately 525 employees previously employed by IED and not re-hired by the purchaser. Facilities costs of

$5.0 million represent the present value of qualifying exit costs, offset by an estimate for future sublease income,

for approximately 30 vacated locations no longer required as a result of the sale. These leases have expiration

dates extending to 2010. The asset impairment charge of $17.4 million represents the write-down to fair value of

assets that were abandoned or classified as ‘‘held-for-sale,’’ as a result of the disposition and discontinuance of

IED and Aprisa, respectively. This write-down was for assets that were not included in the IED sale transaction.

In 2002, management committed to a restructuring plan for certain IED operations. As a result of this action,

the Company recognized restructuring charges totaling approximately $10.9 million, which was included in Loss

from Discontinued Operations in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations. The restructuring

charges consisted of approximately $3.3 million for qualifying exit costs for one service center and eleven regional

office facilities with leases expiring through 2006 and severance and other employee benefits to be paid to

approximately 80 personnel. In addition, the restructuring charges included provisions related to inventory

valuation adjustments of $7.6 million for excess and obsolete inventory primarily associated with the Company’s

decision, as part of the restructuring plan, to close its Electronics Manufacturing Resources and Services facility

and to terminate certain supplier and customer relationships.

As part of the Purchase and Sale Agreement, certain severance costs are reimbursed by the purchaser.

Therefore, a corresponding receivable to the restructuring reserve has been established in ‘‘Assets of Discontin-

ued Operations’’ in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet. The receivable balance was zero and $3.5 mil-

lion at March 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The following summarizes the provision for restructuring and impairment charges relating to the discontinued

operations and the remaining balances at March 31, 2004:

Severance Asset
(Dollars in Thousands) Costs Facilities Impairment Inventory Total

Balance at April 1, 2002 $ 1,414 $ 1,909 $ — $ 7,600 $ 10,923

Disposal of inventory — — — (7,600) (7,600)

Provision 333 — — — 333

Payments (1,418) (564) — — (1,982)

Adjustments (205) (201) — — (406)40

Balance of discontinued reserves prior to sale $ 124 $ 1,144 $ — $ — $ 1,268

2003 restructuring charges 5,913 5,028 17,435 274 28,650

Severance costs not funded by the Company 3,491 — — — 3,491

Adjustments 48 155 — — 203

Payments (2,244) (542) — — (2,786)

Disposal of assets — — (17,435) — (17,435)

Balance at March 31, 2003 $ 7,332 $ 5,785 $ — $ 274 $ 13,391

Payments (7,308) (3,232) — (219) (10,759)

Additions — 545 — — 545

Accretion of lease obligations — 162 — — 162

Balance at March 31, 2004 $ 24 $ 3,260 $ — $ 55 $ 3,339

During 2004, the reserve was increased by $0.5 million for certain exit costs on leased properties meeting

the qualifications for expense during the year. The leased properties were part of the discontinued operations;

however, the Company did not cease complete use of the properties until the current year.

Of the remaining $3.3 million reserve at March 31, 2004, approximately $1.8 million is expected to be paid

during 2005 for severance costs and facilities obligations. Severance costs and facilities obligations are expected

to continue to 2005 and 2010, respectively.

Continuing Operations

In the fourth quarter of 2003, concurrent with the sale of IED, the Company announced that it would restructure

its remaining enterprise computer solutions business and facilities to reduce overhead and eliminate assets that

were inconsistent with the Company’s strategic plan and were no longer required. In connection with this

reorganization, the Company recorded restructuring charges totaling $20.7 million, classified in the 2003 Consoli-

dated Statement of Operations as ‘‘Restructuring Charges,’’ for the impairment of facilities and other assets no

longer required, and severance, incentives and other employee benefit costs, including amounts accrued for



payments that are to be made pursuant to certain tax ‘‘gross up’’ provisions of the restricted stock award

agreements incurred in connection with downsizing the corporate structure.

Severance, incentives and other employee benefit costs are to be paid to approximately 110 personnel.

Facilities costs represent the present value of qualifying exit costs, offset by an estimate for future sublease

income for a vacant warehouse that represents excess capacity as a result of the sale. The lease on this facility

extends through 2017. The asset impairment charge represents the write-down to fair value of assets that were

abandoned as part of the Corporate restructuring since they were inconsistent with the Company’s ongoing

strategic plan.

In 2002, management committed to a restructuring plan for certain corporate and enterprise computer

system operations. As a result of this action, the Company recognized restructuring charges totaling approxi-

mately $1.5 million, of which $1.0 million is included in ‘‘Cost of Goods Sold’’ and $0.5 million is classified in the

Consolidated Statement of Operations as ‘‘Restructuring Charges.’’ The restructuring charges relate to severance

and other employee benefits to be paid to approximately 20 personnel. In addition to costs associated with

personnel reductions, the restructuring charges included provisions related to inventory valuation adjustments.

The following summarizes the provision for restructuring and the remaining balances at March 31, 2004:

Severance &
Other Employee Asset

(Dollars in Thousands) Costs Facilities Impairment Inventory Total

Balance at April 1, 2002 $ 473 $ — $ — $ 1,000 $ 1,473

Disposal of inventory — — — (1,000) (1,000)

Payments (473) — — — (473)

Balance of reserves prior to 2003

restructuring $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —

2003 restructuring charges 5,909 6,135 8,653 — 20,697

Reclassifications — 103 — — 103

Payments (178) (141) — — (319)

Disposal of assets — — (8,653) — (8,653)

41Balance at March 31, 2003 $ 5,731 $ 6,097 $ — $ — $11,828

2004 restructuring charges — 2,066 — — 2,066

Payments (5,706) (2,819) — — (8,525)

Accretion of lease obligations — 450 — — 450

Balance at March 31, 2004 $ 25 $ 5,794 $ — $ — $ 5,819

Of the remaining $5.8 million reserve at March 31, 2004, approximately $0.8 million is expected to be paid

during 2005 for severance costs and facilities obligations. Severance costs and facilities obligations are expected

to continue to 2005 and 2017, respectively.

6
GOODWILL

On April 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142. This Statement, among other things, eliminates the

amortization of goodwill and other intangibles that have indefinite lives but requires annual tests for determining

impairment of those assets. Effective April 1, 2002, the Company discontinued amortization of its goodwill in

accordance with SFAS No. 142.



Pro forma information, assuming the non-amortization provisions of SFAS No. 142 were adopted in fiscal

2002, is as follows:

Year Ended March 31

(Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share Data) 2004 2003 2002

Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations, as reported $11,524 $(26,060) $(2,911)

Add: Goodwill amortization, net of tax — — 3,117

Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations, pro forma $11,524 $(26,060) $ 206

Net Income (Loss), as reported $ 8,663 $(42,078) $(7,047)

Add: Goodwill amortization, net of tax — — 3,117

Net Income (Loss), pro forma $ 8,663 $(42,078) $(3,930)

Earnings per Share — Basic

Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations, as reported $ 0.42 $ (0.96) $ (0.11)

Add: Goodwill amortization, net of tax — — 0.12

Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations, pro forma $ 0.42 $ (0.96) $ 0.01

Net Income (Loss), as reported $ 0.32 $ (1.54) $ (0.26)

Add: Goodwill amortization, net of tax — — 0.12

Net Income (Loss), pro forma $ 0.32 $ (1.54) $ (0.14)

Earnings per Share — Diluted

Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations, as reported $ 0.41 $ (0.96) $ (0.11)

Add: Goodwill amortization, net of tax — — 0.12

Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations, pro forma $ 0.41 $ (0.96) $ 0.01

Net Income (Loss), as reported $ 0.31 $ (1.54) $ (0.26)

Add: Goodwill amortization, net of tax — — 0.12

Net Income (Loss), pro forma $ 0.31 $ (1.54) $ (0.14)
42

As discussed in Note 3, the Company made two business acquisitions in 2004. The excess of the cost of the

acquisitions over the sum of the amounts assigned to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed has been

recognized as goodwill.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during 2004 and 2003 is summarized in the following table:

(Dollars in Thousands) 2004 2003

Beginning of year $117,545 $117,462

Goodwill acquired during the year — Kyrus 29,023 —

Goodwill acquired during the year — IAD 34,380 —

Goodwill adjustment — Kyrus (see Note 3) (2,466) —

Goodwill adjustment — IAD (see Note 3) 1,362 —

Impact of foreign currency translation 131 83

End of year $179,975 $117,545

The Company performed its annual goodwill impairment test using a measurement date of February 1, 2004

and 2003. The Company’s reporting unit is consistent with its reportable segment, as explained in Note 1. The

Company concluded that the fair value of its reporting unit exceeded the carrying value, including goodwill. As

such, step two of the goodwill impairment test, as prescribed by SFAS No. 142, was not necessary and no

impairment loss was recognized.

Under the required transitional provisions of SFAS No. 142, the Company identified and evaluated its

reporting units for impairment as of April 1, 2002, the first day of the Company’s fiscal year 2003, using the two-

step process prescribed by the Statement. The first step involved identifying the reporting units with carrying

values, including goodwill, in excess of fair value. The fair value of goodwill was estimated using a combination of

a discounted cash flow valuation model, incorporating a discount rate commensurate with the risks involved for

each reporting unit, and a market approach of guideline companies in similar transactions. As a result of



completing the first step of the process, it was determined that there was an impairment of goodwill at the date of

adoption. This was due primarily to market conditions and relatively low levels of sales. In the second step of the

process, the implied fair value of the affected reporting unit’s goodwill was compared with its carrying value in

order to determine the amount of impairment, that is, the amount by which the carrying amount exceeded the fair

value. As a result, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $36.7 million, before tax, which was recorded

as a Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle in the first quarter of 2003 and is reflected in the

accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended March 31, 2003. The goodwill impair-

ment was comprised of $25.6 million for IED and $11.0 million for the operations of Aprisa. Both of these

businesses are reported as discontinued operations and, accordingly, the impairment is not reflected in the table

above showing the change in carrying amount of goodwill relating to continuing operations.

7
INVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATED COMPANIES

At March 31, 2004 and 2003, ‘‘Investments in Affiliated Companies’’ consisted of the following:

(Dollars in Thousands) 2004 2003

Magirus AG $13,771 $12,141

Eurodis Electron PLC — 2,403

Other non-marketable equity securities 5,048 5,048

$18,819 $19,592

Magirus AG

The Company maintains an equity interest in Magirus AG (‘‘Magirus’’), a privately-owned European enterprise

computer systems distributor headquartered in Stuttgart, Germany. The Company has a 20% interest in Magirus

and accounts for the investment under the equity method. Accordingly, the investment was initially recorded at 43
cost and the carrying amount has been subsequently adjusted to reflect the Company’s share of operating results

as well as dividends received from Magirus, foreign currency translation and additional contributions made by the

Company.

Eurodis Electron PLC

The Company held publicly traded equity securities in Eurodis Electron PLC (‘‘Eurodis’’), a European distributor of

electronic components headquartered in London, England. This investment was acquired as a strategic invest-

ment and was accounted for as an available-for-sale security. Accordingly, unrealized holding gains (losses) not

considered to be an other-than-temporary decline in the market value of the investment were excluded from

earnings and recorded net of tax as a component of Other Comprehensive Income (Loss).

During 2004, the Company sold its investment in Eurodis. The realized gain was determined on the basis of

specific identification of securities sold since the Company liquidated its entire holding of Eurodis securities. Sales

proceeds and realized gain on the sale were $3.3 million and $0.9 million, respectively.

As of March 31, 2004 and 2003, the market value of the Company’s investment in Eurodis was zero and

$2.4 million, respectively, and the cost basis was $2.4 million as of March 31, 2003. Unrealized holding gains

were zero, zero, and $0.9 million at March 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Management continually monitored the change in the value of its Eurodis investment to determine whether

declines in market value below cost were other-than-temporary. The Company made such a determination based

upon criteria that included the extent to which cost exceeded market value, the duration of the market decline, and

the financial condition of and specific prospects of the issuer. In addition, the Company evaluated its intent to

retain the investment over a period of time which would be sufficient to allow for any recovery in market value.

When it was concluded that the market value decline was temporary following the Company’s policy as set forth

above and in Note 1, the changes in market value were included in ‘‘Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss’’ in

the Shareholders’ Equity section of the consolidated balance sheet. In 2003, as a result of the Company’s sale of

IED and subsequent change in business focus, the Company’s intent concerning its Eurodis investment changed.

The investment no longer held strategic value and it was not the Company’s intent to retain the investment for a

long period of time. Therefore, the decline in market value was deemed to be other than temporary, and in 2003



the Company recognized a $14.6 million impairment charge to reduce the carrying value (cost basis) to market

value. This non-cash charge was included as ‘‘Investment Impairment’’ in ‘‘Other (Income) Expense’’ in the

consolidated statement of operations for the year ended March 31, 2003.

Other Non-Marketable Equity Securities

Other non-marketable equity securities consist primarily of capital stock ownership in a privately held company

where a market value is not readily available. As such, the investment is stated at cost that does not exceed

estimated net realizable value.

8
LEASE COMMITMENTS

Capital Leases

The Company leases certain equipment under capital leases expiring in various years through 2006. The assets

and liabilities under capital leases are recorded at the lower of the present value of the minimum lease payments

or the fair value of the asset. The assets are depreciated over the lower of their related lease terms or their

estimated productive lives. Depreciation of assets under capital leases is included in depreciation expense for

2004 and 2003.

Minimum future lease payments under capital leases as of March 31, 2004 for each of the next five years

and in the aggregate are:

(In Thousands) Amount

Year Ended

2005 $307

2006 112

2007 —

44 2008 —

2009 —

Total minimum lease payments 419

Less: Amount representing interest (20)

Present value of net minimum lease payments $399

Interest rates on capitalized leases vary from 5.04% to 12.0% and are imputed based on the lower of the

Company’s incremental borrowing rate at the inception of each lease or the lessor’s implicit rate of return.

Operating Leases

The Company leases certain office and warehouse facilities and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases

which expire at various dates through 2017. Certain facilities and equipment leases contain renewal options for

periods up to 10 years. In most cases, management expects that in the normal course of business, leases will be

renewed or replaced by other leases.



The following is a schedule by years of future minimum rental payments required under operating leases,

excluding real estate taxes and insurance, that have initial or remaining non-cancelable lease terms in excess of a

year as of March 31, 2004:

Continuing Discontinued
(In Thousands) Operations Operations

Year ending March 31:

2005 $ 6,868 $1,276

2006 5,848 899

2007 4,212 575

2008 3,865 405

2009 3,460 365

Thereafter 19,724 497

Total future minimum rental payments $43,977 $4,017

Rental expense for all non-cancelable operating leases amounted to $7.0 million, $11.8 million and

$11.5 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

9
FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

The following is a summary of long-term obligations at March 31, 2004 and 2003:

(In Thousands) 2004 2003

Senior Notes, due August 2006 $59,388 $130,963

Capital lease obligations 399 37
45

59,787 131,000

Less current maturities of long-term obligations 284 5

$59,503 $130,995

The Company’s debt outstanding as of March 31, 2004 primarily consists of approximately $59.4 million

principal amount of 9.5% Senior Notes (the ‘‘Notes’’) due August 2006. Interest is payable semi-annually. The

indenture under which the Notes were issued limits the creation of liens, sale and leaseback transactions,

consolidations, mergers and transfers of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets, and indebtedness of the

Company’s restricted subsidiaries. The Notes are subject to mandatory repurchase by the Company at the option

of the holders in the event of a change in control of the Company. The fair value of the Notes was $65.5 million

and $137.2 million at March 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

During 2004, the Company repurchased Notes for cash at prices ranging from $1,070.00 to $1,113.00 per

$1,000 principal amount. The Company repurchased Senior Notes approximating $71.6 million. The premium

paid, as well as the disposition of other financing fees, resulted in a charge of approximately $8.5 million, which is

included in the ‘‘Other (Income) Expense’’ section of the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations for

the year ended March 31, 2004.

In April 2003, the Company entered into an unsecured, three-year revolving credit agreement (the ‘‘Revolver’’)

with a consortium of six banks. The Revolver provides the Company with the ability to borrow up to $100 million,

limited to certain borrowing base calculations, and allows for increases, under certain conditions, up to $150 mil-

lion during the life of the facility. Advances on the Revolver bear interest at various levels over LIBOR, and a facility

fee is required, both of which are determined based on the Company’s leverage ratio. The Revolver does not

contain a pre-payment penalty. There were no amounts outstanding under the Revolver at March 31, 2004.

The Revolver contains certain restrictive and financial covenants including limitations on other borrowings,

investment expenditures and the maintenance of certain financial ratios, such as leverage, fixed charge coverage

and net worth, among other restrictions. The Company is in compliance with all covenants.

During 2003, the Company maintained a Revolving Credit Agreement that was entered into in 2001 (the

‘‘2001 Revolver’’), with a group of commercial banks, which provided the Company with the ability to borrow, on



an unsecured basis, up to $100 million, limited to certain borrowing base calculations. This agreement was

scheduled to expire in September 2004. On December 20, 2002, in connection with the pending sale of IED, the

2001 Revolver was amended to reduce the Company’s ability to borrow to $50 million, limited to certain borrowing

base calculations, and accelerate the expiration date to June 2003. On March 21, 2003, the Company terminated

the agreement. There were no advances outstanding under the 2001 Revolver as of the termination date. As a

result of the above noted terminations, there were no outstanding financial or non-financial covenants as of

March 31, 2003.

Concurrent with the 2001 Revolver amendment and attributable to the accelerated due date and reduction in

borrowing capacity, the Company expensed approximately $1.0 million of deferred financing fees in the third

quarter of 2003. In addition, as a result of the termination of the Asset Securitization and 2001 Revolver in the

fourth quarter of 2003, the remaining unamortized deferred financing fees of $0.6 million were expensed. These

charges, totaling $1.6 million, are included in ‘‘Interest Expense, Net’’ in the accompanying Consolidated State-

ment of Operations for the year ended March 31, 2003.

10
INCOME TAXES

The components of Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes from Continuing Operations and Provision for Income

Taxes for Continuing Operations for the years ended March 31 are as follows:

(Dollars in Thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Income (loss) before income taxes

Domestic $27,257 $(29,381) $ 3,180

Foreign (549) (2,103) 1,764

Income (loss) before income taxes $26,708 $(31,484) $ 4,944

Provision (benefit) for income taxes

Current46
Federal $ 7,886 $ (3,510) $ 4,104

State and local 60 131 (65)

Foreign 127 180 —

Total current $ 8,073 $ (3,199) $ 4,039

Deferred

Federal $ 856 $ (6,949) $(2,018)

State and local 992 (380) (403)

Foreign (237) (1,211) —

Total deferred 1,611 (8,540) (2,421)

Provision (benefit) for income taxes $ 9,684 $(11,739) $ 1,618

A reconciliation of the federal statutory rate to the Company’s effective income tax rate for continuing

operations for the years ended March 31 follows:

2004 2003 2002

Statutory rate 35.0% (35.0)% 35.0%

Benefit for state taxes (1.3) (6.5) (29.5)

Change in valuation allowance 3.9 3.6 12.5

Settlement of Income Tax Audits (2.4) — —

Foreign rate differential 0.3 (0.9) 3.6

Meals & entertainment 1.6 0.7 6.0

Non-deductible goodwill — — 6.9

Equity investment and other, net (0.8) 0.8 (1.8)

Effective rate 36.3% (37.3)% 32.7%



Deferred tax assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2004 and 2003 are presented below:

(Dollars in Thousands) 2004 2003

Deferred tax assets:

Capitalized inventory costs $ 257 $ 296

Accrued liabilities 1,615 1,584

Allowance for doubtful accounts 1,415 1,040

Inventory valuation reserve 3,581 1,579

Restructuring reserve 2,212 2,955

Federal domestic net operating losses 8,841 —

Foreign net operating losses 1,370 1,237

Property and equipment 1,181 808

Investment impairment — 4,998

State net operating losses 5,524 4,275

Other 461 188

26,457 18,960

Less valuation allowance (5,524) (4,275)

Total net deferred tax assets $20,933 $14,685

Deferred tax liabilities:

Deferred Revenue $ 331 $ —

Software amortization 3,044 4,100

Goodwill amortization 12,460 9,598

Other 270 107

Total deferred tax liabilities 16,105 13,805

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $ 4,828 $ 880

Long term deferred tax assets of approximately $1.6 million are included in ‘‘Other Assets’’ in the accom-
47panying Consolidated Balance Sheet at March 31, 2003.

At March 31, 2004, the Company had $25.3 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards that expire, if

unused, through 2024 and $4.7 million of foreign net operating loss carryforwards that expire, if unused, in years

2007 through 2011. At March 31, 2004, the Company had $192.5 million of state net operating loss carryfor-

wards that expire, if unused, in years 2008 through 2019. A valuation allowance of $5.5 million has been

recognized to offset the state deferred tax assets related to those carryforwards.

11
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS

The Company maintains various profit-sharing and 401(k) plans for all employees meeting certain service require-

ments. Generally, the plans allow eligible employees to contribute a portion of their compensation, with the

Company matching a percentage thereof. The Company may also make contributions each year for the benefit of

all eligible employees under the plans. Total profit sharing and Company matching contributions were $2.2 million,

$2.3 million and $2.2 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Agilysys also has a Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (the ‘‘SERP’’), implemented during 2001, which

is a non-qualified plan designed to provide retirement benefits and life insurance for certain officers. Retirement

benefits are based on compensation and length of service. The benefits under the SERP are provided from a

combination of the benefits to which the officers are entitled under the Company’s profit-sharing and 401(k) plans

and from life insurance policies that are owned by certain officers who have assigned the corporate interest (the

Company’s share of the premiums paid) in the policies to the Company. The Company’s cash surrender value of

the policies was $3.0 million and $1.5 million at March 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, and is included in

‘‘Other Assets’’ in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The accrued and unfunded liability for the

SERP was $2.4 million and $1.8 million at March 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, and is included in ‘‘Other

Long-Term Liabilities’’ in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.



12
CONTINGENCIES

The Company is the subject of various threatened or pending legal actions and contingencies in the normal course

of conducting its business. The Company provides for costs related to these matters when a loss is probable and

the amount can be reasonably estimated. The effect of the outcome of these matters on the Company’s future

results of operations and liquidity cannot be predicted because any such effect depends on future results of

operations and the amount or timing of the resolution of such matters. While it is not possible to predict with

certainty, management believes that the ultimate resolution of such matters will not have a material adverse

effect on the consolidated financial position or results of operations of the Company.

13
MANDATORILY REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE TRUST PREFERRED SECURITIES

In March and April 1998, Pioneer-Standard Financial Trust (the ‘‘Pioneer-Standard Trust’’) issued

2,875,000 shares relating to $143.7 million of 6.75% Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust Preferred

Securities (the ‘‘Trust preferred securities’’). The Pioneer-Standard Trust, a statutory business trust, is a wholly

owned consolidated subsidiary of the Company, with its sole asset being $148.2 million aggregate principal

amount of 6.75% Junior Convertible Subordinated Debentures due March 31, 2028 (the ‘‘Trust Debentures’’).

The Trust preferred securities are non-voting (except in limited circumstances), pay quarterly distributions at

an annual rate of 6.75%, carry a liquidation value of $50 per share and are convertible into the Company’s

Common Shares at any time prior to the close of business on March 31, 2028, at the option of the holder. The

Trust preferred securities are convertible into Common Shares at the rate of 3.1746 Common Shares for each

Trust preferred security (equivalent to a conversion price of $15.75 per Common Share). The Company has

executed a guarantee with regard to the Trust preferred securities. The guarantee, when taken together with the

Company’s obligations under the Trust Debentures, the indenture pursuant to which the Trust Debentures were
48 issued and the applicable trust document, provide a full and unconditional guarantee of the Pioneer-Standard

Trust’s obligations under the Trust preferred securities. The Company may cause the Pioneer-Standard Trust to

delay payment of distributions on the Trust preferred securities for 20 consecutive quarters. During such deferral

periods, distributions, to which holders of the Trust preferred securities are entitled, will compound quarterly, and

the Company may not declare or pay any dividends on its Common Shares.

After March 31, 2003, Trust preferred securities are redeemable, at the option of the Company, for a

redemption price of 103.375% of par reduced annually by 0.675% to a minimum of $50 per Trust preferred

security. The Trust preferred securities are subject to mandatory redemption on March 31, 2028, at a redemption

price of $50 per Trust preferred security.

In 2004, the Company repurchased 365,000 Trust preferred securities, approximating $18.3 million face

value, for a cash purchase price of approximately $17.0 million. The difference between the face value and cash

paid, offset by the expensing of related deferred financing fees, resulted in a net gain of $0.7 million, which is

included in the ‘‘Other (Income) Expense’’ section of the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. As

of March 31, 2004, a total of 366,500 Trust preferred securities had been redeemed.

At March 31, 2004 and 2003, the fair market value of the Trust preferred securities was $123.5 million and

$133.6 million, respectively.

14
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Capital Stock — Holders of Common Shares are entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all matters

to be submitted to a vote of the shareholders. At March 31, 2004 and 2003, there were no shares of Preferred

Stock outstanding.

Subscribed-for Shares — The Company has a Share Subscription Agreement and Trust (the ‘‘Trust’’) with

Wachovia Bank of North Carolina, N.A., as Trustee, whereby the Trustee subscribed for 5,000,000 Common

Shares of the Company, which will be paid for over the 15-year term of the Trust. The proceeds from the sale or



direct use of the Common Shares over the life of the Trust are used to fund Company obligations under various

compensation and benefit plans. For financial reporting purposes, the Trust is consolidated with the Company. The

shares subscribed for by the Trust are recorded in the contra equity account, ‘‘Unearned Employee Benefits,’’ and

adjusted to market value at each reporting period, with an offsetting adjustment to ‘‘Capital in Excess of Stated

Value.’’ There were 943,798 shares released from the Trust prior to 2002. In 2002, 90,462 shares were

transferred from the Trust to fund a portion of the Company’s 2001 profit sharing. During 2003, 375,800 shares

were transferred from the Trust for the restricted stock awards granted in 2003. No shares were transferred from

the Trust in 2004.

The following summarizes the fair market value of the 3,589,940 Common Shares subscribed for by the

Trust, reflected in Shareholders’ Equity at March 31:

(Dollars In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Data) 2004 2003

Common Shares at stated value (3,589,940 @ $0.30 in 2004 and 2003) $ 1,077 $ 1,077

Capital in excess of stated value (3,589,940 shares in 2004 and 2003) 41,248 29,222

Unearned employee benefits (3,589,940 shares @ $11.79 in 2004

and 3,589,940 shares @ $8.44 in 2003) (42,325) (30,299)

Net effect on Shareholders’ Equity $ — $ —

Shareholder Rights Plan — On April 27, 1999, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a new Share-

holder Rights Plan, which became effective upon expiration of the existing plan on May 10, 1999. A dividend of

one Right per Common Share was distributed to shareholders of record as of May 10, 1999. Each Right, upon the

occurrence of certain events, entitles the holder to buy from the Company one-tenth of a Common Share at a price

of $4.00, or $40.00 per whole share, subject to adjustment. The Rights may be exercised only if a person or group

acquires 20% or more of the Company’s Common Shares, or announces a tender offer for at least 20% of the

Company’s Common Shares. Each Right will entitle its holder (other than such acquiring person or members of

such acquiring group) to purchase, at the Right’s then-current exercise price, a number of the Company’s Common

Shares having a market value of twice the Right’s then-exercise price. The Rights trade with the Company’s

Common Shares until the Rights become exercisable.
49If the Company is acquired in a merger or other business combination transaction, each Right will entitle its

holder to purchase, at the Right’s then-exercise price, a number of the acquiring company’s common shares (or

other securities) having a market value at the time of twice the Right’s then-current exercise price. Prior to the

acquisition by a person or group of beneficial ownership of 20% or more of the Company’s Common Shares, the

Rights are redeemable for $0.001 per Right at the option of the Company’s Board of Directors. The Rights will

expire May 10, 2009.
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EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share:

For the year ended March 31

(Dollars In Thousands, Except Per Share Data) 2004 2003 2002

Weighted average number of shares

Basic 27,744 27,292 27,040

Common Shares issuable upon conversion of Trust preferred securities — — —

Common equivalent shares 212 — —

Diluted 27,956 27,292 27,040

Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations $11,524 $(26,060) $(2,911)

(Loss) Income from Discontinued Operations, net of taxes (See Note 4) (2,861) 18,777 (4,136)

Income (Loss) Before Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle 8,663 (7,283) (7,047)

Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle, net of $1.9 million tax

benefit — (34,795) —

Net income (loss) on which basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share is

calculated $ 8,663 $(42,078) $(7,047)

Earnings (Loss) per share — Basic

Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations $ 0.42 $ (0.96) $ (0.11)

(Loss) Income from Discontinued Operations (0.10) 0.69 (0.15)

Income (Loss) Before Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle 0.32 (0.27) (0.26)

Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle — (1.27) —

Net Income (Loss) $ 0.32 $ (1.54) $ (0.26)

50 Earnings (Loss) per share — Diluted

Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations $ 0.41 $ (0.96) $ (0.11)

(Loss) Income from Discontinued Operations (0.10) 0.69 (0.15)

Income (Loss) Before Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle 0.31 (0.27) (0.26)

Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle — (1.27) —

Net Income (Loss) $ 0.31 $ (1.54) $ (0.26)

Diluted earnings per share is computed by sequencing each issue or series of issues of potential common

shares from the most dilutive to the least dilutive. Diluted earnings per share is determined as the lowest earnings

per incremental share in the sequence of potential common shares.

For the years ended March 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, 8.1 million, 9.1 million, and 9.1 million Common

Shares issuable upon conversion of the Trust preferred securities, respectively, that could potentially dilute

earnings per share in the future were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because to do

so would have been antidilutive.

For the years ended March 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, 2.2 million, 3.5 million, and 3.9 million stock options,

respectively, that could potentially dilute earnings per share in the future were not included in the computation of

diluted earnings per share because to do so would have been antidilutive. Due to the application of the treasury

stock method, shares subscribed for by the Trust, which is more fully described in Note 14 to the Consolidated

Financial Statements, have no effect on earnings per share until they are released from the Trust.

16
STOCK OPTIONS AND RESTRICTED STOCK

Stock Options — The Company has stock plans, which provide for the granting of restricted stock and options to

employees and directors to purchase its Common Shares. These plans provide for nonqualified and incentive

stock options. Stock options are granted to employees at an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the



Company’s Common Shares at the date of grant. Options expire 10 years from the date of grant. Vesting periods

are established by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors and vary.

The following tables summarize stock option activity under the Plans during 2004, 2003 and 2002:

2004 2003 2002

No. of Wtd. Avg. No. of Wtd. Avg. No. of Wtd. Avg.
Shares Exercise Shares Exercise Shares Exercise

Under Option Price Under Option Price Under Option Price

Balance at April 1 3,464,832 $12.64 3,861,534 $12.00 3,137,821 $11.54

Options granted 295,900 7.93 874,000 14.29 947,500 12.91

Options exercised (111,937) 7.76 (275,274) 8.12 (108,499) 6.25

Options cancelled/expired (328,235) 12.96 (616,014) 12.85 (18,354) 11.63

Options forfeited (14,365) 14.09 (379,414) 13.17 (96,934) 12.39

Balance at March 31 3,306,195 $12.35 3,464,832 $12.23 3,861,534 $12.00

Options Exercisable at March 31 2,336,059 $12.51 2,063,592 $12.07 2,020,508 $11.36

Available for Grant at March 31 65,125 310,825 1,076,211

March 31, 2004
Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Wtd. Avg.
Wtd. Avg. Remaining Wtd. Avg.

Number of Exercise Contractual Life Number of Exercise
Exercise Price Range Options Price (in years) Options Price

$ 5.50 - $ 8.00 216,900 $ 7.65 9 12,834 $ 7.01

$ 8.00 - $10.50 516,300 8.75 6 397,600 8.79

$10.50 - $13.00 554,995 12.16 3.3 511,975 12.16

$13.00 - $15.50 2,018,000 13.83 6.9 1,413,650 13.73
51

3,306,195 $ 12.35 2,336,059 $ 12.51

Restricted Stock — During 2003, restricted stock awards for 375,800 shares of the Company’s common

stock were granted at a market value of $8.51 per share to certain officers under the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan.

These shares are subject to certain terms and conditions and cliff-vest over a three-year period. Restrictions lapse

three years after the date of the award. Unvested shares are restricted as to disposition and subject to forfeiture

under certain circumstances. The cost of these awards, determined as the market value of the shares at the date

of grant, is being amortized over the restriction periods.

During 2000, restricted stock awards for 723,798 shares of the Company’s common stock were granted at a

market value of $13.50 per share to certain officers under the 1999 Restricted Stock Plan. All eligible shares

under this plan have been granted and, subject to certain terms and conditions, vest over a three-year period

commencing upon termination of employment. Unvested shares are restricted as to disposition and subject to

forfeiture under certain circumstances. The cost of these awards, determined as the market value of the shares

at the date of grant, is being amortized over the restriction periods.

In 2004, 2003 and 2002, $2.1 million, $1.9 million and $2.0 million, respectively, was charged to expense

for the Company’s restricted stock awards. There were 519,943 and 316,087 shares vested as of March 31,

2004 and 2003, respectively.

The following table summarizes restricted stock activity under the Plans during 2004, 2003 and 2002:

2004 2003 2002

Restricted shares at beginning of year 783,511 648,978 686,388

Awarded during the year — 375,800 —

Vested (203,856) (241,267) (37,410)

Cancelled — — —

Restricted shares at end of year 579,655 783,511 648,978
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QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

Year Ended March 31, 2004

First Second Third Fourth
Year(Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share Data) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Net sales $279,593 $292,683 $459,363 $371,577 $1,403,216

Gross margin 34,927 34,714 59,426 51,835 180,902

Income (loss) from continuing operations (708) (3,046) 9,120 6,158 11,524

Income (loss) from discontinued operations (749) (333) (458) (1,321) (2,861)

Net income (loss) $ (1,457) $ (3,379) $ 8,662 $ 4,837 $ 8,663

Per share data:

Basic

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ (0.02) $ (0.11) $ 0.33 $ 0.22 $ 0.42

Income (loss) from discontinued operations (0.03) (0.01) (0.02) (0.05) (0.10)

Net income (loss) $ (0.05) $ (0.12) $ 0.31 $ 0.17 $ 0.32

Diluted

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ (0.02) $ (0.11) $ 0.29 $ 0.21 $ 0.41

Income (loss) from discontinued operations (0.03) (0.01) (0.01) (0.04) (0.10)

Net income (loss) $ (0.05) $ (0.12) $ 0.28 $ 0.17 $ 0.31

Because quarterly reporting of per share data stands on its own, the sum of per share amounts for the four

quarters in the fiscal year will not necessarily equal annual per share amounts. SFAS No. 128 prohibits retroactive
52

adjustment of quarterly per share amounts so that the sum of those amounts equals amounts for the full year.

Included in the results of the fourth quarter of 2004 is a $5.0 million ($3.2 million, after tax) favorable

litigation settlement.

Year Ended March 31, 2003

First Second Third Fourth
Year(Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share Data) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Net sales $273,191 $260,663 $376,438 $261,339 $1,171,631

Gross margin 34,785 34,981 45,022 34,465 149,253

Income (loss) from continuing operations (1,467) (2,054) 2,321 (24,860) (26,060)

Income (loss) from discontinued operations 2,297 2,696 (426) 14,210 18,777

Income (loss) before cumulative effect of

change in accounting principle 830 642 1,895 (10,650) (7,283)

Cumulative effect of change in accounting

principle (34,795) — — — (34,795)

Net income (loss) $ (33,965) $ 642 $ 1,895 $ (10,650) $ (42,078)



Year Ended March 31, 2003

First Second Third Fourth
Year(Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share Data) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Per share data:

Basic

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ (0.05) $ (0.08) $ 0.09 $ (0.91) $ (0.96)

Income (loss) from discontinued operations 0.08 0.10 (0.02) 0.52 0.69

Income (loss) before cumulative effect of

change in accounting principle 0.03 0.02 0.07 (0.39) (0.27)

Cumulative effect of change in accounting

principle (1.28) — — — (1.27)

Net income (loss) $ (1.25) $ 0.02 $ 0.07 $ (0.39) $ (1.54)

Diluted

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ (0.05) $ (0.08) $ 0.08 $ (0.91) $ (0.96)

Income (loss) from discontinued

operations 0.08 0.10 (0.01) 0.52 0.69

Income (loss) before cumulative effect of

change in accounting principle 0.03 0.02 0.07 (0.39) (0.27)

Cumulative effect of change in accounting

principle (1.28) — — — (1.27)

Net income (loss) $ (1.25) $ 0.02 $ 0.07 $ (0.39) $ (1.54)

Because quarterly reporting of per share data stands on its own, the sum of per share amounts for the four

quarters in the fiscal year will not necessarily equal annual per share amounts. SFAS No. 128 prohibits retroactive
53

adjustment of quarterly per share amounts so that the sum of those amounts equals amounts for the full year.

The sale of IED and the related discontinuation of the operations of Aprisa in the fourth quarter of 2003

represent a disposal of a ‘‘component of an entity’’ as defined in SFAS No. 144, ‘‘Accounting for the Impairment

of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of.’’ Accordingly, the first three quarters of 2003

have been restated to reflect the results of operations of IED and Aprisa as discontinued operations.

Included in the results of the fourth quarter of 2003 is a restructuring charge of $20.7 million ($13.0 million,

after tax) for the impairment of facilities and other assets and for severance costs incurred in connection with

downsizing the Company’s corporate structure. Additionally, included in the fourth quarter of 2003 is a pre-tax

charge of $14.6 million ($9.2 million, after tax) for an impairment of an available-for-sale investment and a pre-tax

charge of $1.2 million ($0.7 million, after tax) for the premium paid and the write-off of related financing costs

associated with the Company’s Tender Offer of its 9.5% Senior Notes.

On April 1, 2002, Agilysys adopted SFAS No. 142, ‘‘Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,’’ which requires

that amortization of goodwill be replaced with period tests for goodwill impairment. The adoption of SFAS No. 142

resulted in a charge of $34.8 million, net of tax, which was recorded as a cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle in the first quarter of 2003.



schedule II — valuation and qualifying accounts
years ended march 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
Agilysys, Inc.

(Dollars in Thousands)
Balance at Charged to Deductions —

Beginning of Cost and Net Write-Offs/ Balance at
Description Period Expenses Payments End of Period

2004

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 2,969 $ 3,364 $ (2,504) $ 3,829

Inventory valuation reserve $ 4,525 $ 5,930 $ (4,295) $ 6,160

Restructuring reserves $11,828 $ 2,516 $ (8,525) $ 5,819

2003

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 3,156 $ 3,709 $ (3,896) $ 2,969

Inventory valuation reserve $ 5,097 $ 3,224 $ (3,796) $ 4,525

Restructuring reserves $ 1,473 $20,697 $(10,342) $11,828

2002

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 1,904 $ 9,154 $ (7,902) $ 3,156

Inventory valuation reserve $ 3,850 $ 3,536 $ (2,289) $ 5,097

Restructuring reserves $ — $ 1,473 $ — $ 1,473

54
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A B O U T  A G I LY S Y S ,  I N C .
 

O U R  C O M PA N Y  A N D  C U S T O M E R S

Agilysys, Inc. is one of the foremost distributors and premier resellers of enterprise com-

puter technology solutions.  The Company has a proven track record of delivering complex 

servers, software, storage and services to resellers and corporate customers across a 

diverse set of industries. In addition, Agilysys provides customer-centric software applica-

tions and services focused on the retail and hospitality markets. 

Headquartered in Cleveland, Ohio, the Company has sales offices throughout the United 

States and Canada.    

 

A G I LY S Y S  …  A G I L E  S Y S T E M S  …  A G I L E  S O L U T I O N S  

In September 2003, shareholders of the former Pioneer-Standard Electronics, Inc. approved 

an amendment to change the name of their Company to Agilysys, Inc. A combination of 

the words “agile” and “systems,” the name Agilysys clearly represents the Company as a 

technology solutions organization that delivers the tools, knowledge and value that enable 

business partners and customers to perform at their best. 

F O R W A R D - L O O K I N G  S TAT E M E N T S

Portions of this annual report, particularly the statements made by management and 

those that are not historical facts, are forward-looking statements within the meaning of 

the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such 

forward-looking statements are based on current assumptions and expectations, and are 

subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond the control of Agilysys. 

Many factors could cause Agilysys actual results to differ materially from those antici-

pated by the forward-looking statements. For a listing of these risk factors, please see 

the Agilysys fiscal 2004 Annual Report on Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and 

Exchange Commission.
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